
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

14 March 2022 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the  
Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee on 

Tuesday, 22nd March, 2022 at 6.30 pm 
In the Committee Room  Municiple Buildings  West Street  Boston 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Judith Skinner 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Judy Welbourn 
 Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, 

Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Neill Hastie, 
Yvonne Stevens and Chelcei Trafford 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
PART 1 - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

B.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 To sign and confirm the  minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

C.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



D.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Thursday 17 March 2022 
 

 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY (Pages 7 - 46) 
 

 A report by the Assistant Director – Regulatory.  
 

2   CARBON REDUCTION ACTION PLAN (Pages 47 - 128) 
 

 A report by the Assistant Director - Regulatory 
 

3   JOINT SCRUTINY BETWEEN PARTNERSHIP COUNCILS WITH SOUTH EAST 
LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP (Pages 129 - 140) 
 

 A report by The Assistant Director – Governance (Monitoring Officer)  
 

4   MEMBER WORKING GROUP FLY TIPPING (Pages 141 - 146) 
 

 A report by The Assistant Director – Neighbourhoods  
 

5   WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 147 - 156) 
 

 (For Members to note/discuss the Committee’s current work programme) 
 

 
 
Notes: 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Telephone Number 01205 
314226.    email:  karen.rist@boston.gov.uk  
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify as soon as possible 
giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 

This meeting will be streamed live. 
 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & 
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

1 February 2022 

Present: Councillor Judith Skinner (Chairman), Councillor Judy Welbourn (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, Katie Chalmers, Paul Goodale, 
Neill Hastie and Yvonne Stevens 
 
In attendance:  
 
Officers –  
Assistant Director - Regulation, Insights & Transformation Manager and Democratic 
Services Officer 
 
33   MINUTES 

 

Committee agreed the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 7th December 2021. 

 
34   APOLOGIES 

 

Apologies for absence were tabled by Councillor s Tom Ashton and Anton Dani with no 
substitute members. 

 
35   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 

Councillor Alison Austin referenced the performance reporting which included 
homelessness and noted her position as a Director of Centrepoint Outreach.   

 
36   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 

No public questions were tabled.  
 
Prior to moving into part 2 of the agenda Madam Chairman welcomed Dr Robin Price 
and Ms Rose Shisler thanking them for agreeing to attend and present on behalf of 
Anglian Water 
 
37   ANGLIAN WATER 

 
Dr Price provided an in-depth overview of the presentation displayed, confirming it would 
be provided to Members for their reference of detailed information in respect of the 
corporate data after the meeting. His comments included the following: 
The Company welcomed scrutiny of its environmental performance by campaigners, 
partners and the public.  Anglian Water has been the first company in the UK to produce 
a Climate Change Adaptation Report and had won three net zero awards during 2020 – 
2021.  
Anglian Water employed 5000 staff and serviced 7 million customers across Eastern 
England.  The area was classed as a dry region with on two thirds of the average UK 
rainfall.  The area was fast growing with an expected 175k new homes by 2025.  
Currently 1100 recycling centres served the area with 400 water treatment sites and 76k 
kilometres of sewers.  
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B.



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
1 February 2022 
 

 
The ambition of the company was to bring environmental and social prosperity to the 
region with the four key goals guided and identified by the needs of its stakeholders 
being, to make life better for residents; delivery of its 2020 – 2025 final determination; 
deliver its’ identified business priorities and create a sustainable future for the region.  
Their 25 year strategic ambition was to reduce their net carbon by 70% by 2025, to work 
with others to achieve significant improvements in ecological quality, to make the East of 
England resilient to the risks and flooding and drought and finally to enable sustainable 
economic housing growth in the fastest growing area of the Country, being a statutory 
consultee for planning applications.  
Anglian Water would be looking at reducing emissions within its own build material 
including the carbon embodied within concrete and pipes. Furthermore, due to the low 
lying land within the area it would need to continue pumping and as such look to 
increase renewable energy including use of wind-power and renewables.  Being aware 
of the need to off-set, the Company recognised that it would need to invest in nature 
based solutions and not just off-set by replacing trees.  
Addressing a question tabled in respect of the carbon footprint of its existing fleet, Dr 
Price confirmed that Anglian Water whilst having 180 electric cars on order, were 
looking at minimising the business travel of its employees and were re-imagining its 
existing offices to address working in more efficient ways.   They aspired to have 25% of 
their existing vans changed over by 2025 and were setting strong targets looking at 
alternative ways to fuel their tanker movements including consideration of liquid nitrified 
gas and potentially the use of bio methane gas which they already produced, some of 
which was exported to the gas grid.  Their aspiration was to have 90% of their overall 
fleet changed over by 2030.  
Referencing issues with storm overflows, Dr Price confirmed that Anglian Water were 
investing £200million in looking at the issues.  This would include £80million in installing 
additional storm tanks; £56million in increasing water capacity at the water recycling 
plants and £20million in installing new drainage solutions.   
Their aims included, to see the statutory need to tackle storm overflows ensuring 
prioritisation through the price review process; a joint owned national plan for rivers; an 
end to the automatic right to connect to their service and a collaborative action to restore 
rivers and national habitats.  The Company would embrace working with farmers, local 
authorities and campaign groups. 
Stating that historically the practice had been to discharge direct into the rivers in order 
to protect homes and business as rivers would dilute and dispel the discharge, moving 
forward consideration had to be given on how to protect the environment as well as 
homes and businesses.  Furthermore, the company recognised that discharge of its own 
assets into rivers and the sea was also on occasion not acceptable and whilst it was a 
long complex process to address, they would be actioning the issues.  
Locally 85% of water was used for drinking and household/business use with the 
remaining 15% used to irrigate crops.  In London the rate being 98% - 2% was very 
different. By 2050 the prediction for water use would rise by 100%. 
Investment was also ongoing into monitoring practices across the region to enable the 
company to be held to account and also to allow a wide information service for the 
public on its website.  The introduction of smart water meters along the same lines as 
electricity metres, would allow residents to see how much they were spending and on 
what.  Currently UK residents used 140 Litres per day whilst in Scandinavia it was 50 
Litres 
 

Page 2



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
1 February 2022 

 

Looking forward Anglian Water would be introducing three reservoirs, 2 in South 
Lincolnshire and one in the Fens with a start build time of 2025 to deliver by 2030.  A 
shortlist of suitable sites had been compiled and the intent was to make them 
destinations by providing not only irrigation for farmers, but to make them natural 
habitats and tourist assets and maximise their benefits for the local communities.   
Referencing the Boston area, Dr Price advised that they would be investing £9million 
over the next five years. This would include £8million at the Frampton Water Recycling 
Centre to increase capacity, £87k to increase capacity at other centres across the 
borough and £100k for monitoring locally.  Referencing the capacity of the nine sites 
within the borough, six sites had significant capacity, Fishtoft had capacity for the next 
ten years with the remainder with the sites being monitored as they may potentially 
require further investment over the next 25 years.  Further information noted that all the 
sewers and been historical assessed and continued to be so, ensuring Anglian Water 
were aware of the risks, enabling them to go and replace and upgrade them to keep the 
sewage flowing.  
Addressing questions submitted in respect of the tankers moving around the town and 
concern on speeding, Dr Price confirmed that any such incident should be reported with 
evidence if possible, as it would not be tolerated.  The tankers operated within the 
borough during the hours of 0730/0840, 0910/1520 and 1550/1800 outside of school 
hours.  12 tankers per day delivered to the sites and 20 tankers collected from the sites.   
Clarifying the cargo, Dr Price confirmed that it was sludge and not raw sewage that was 
being transported.  The treated sludge was broken down at the recycling sites with the 
solids being taken from the water and made in fertiliser – known as cake.   
Further concerns noted the stock piled cake at sites which had not been delivered to 
farmers and the real possibility of odours which could emanate from it in warmer 
weather, impacting on the amenity of neighbouring residents. Dr Price confirmed the 
HGV fleet was managed centrally with all vehicles having telematics installed.  He 
confirmed he would be happy to facilitate a conversation with the site manager to 
address the concerns raised including the potential issue of odour.  
 
Additional questions by Members followed with responses provided when possible and 
assurance given that a follow up answers after the meeting would be provided, where 
required, these included: 
 
Referencing concerns in respect of odour (unpleasant odour) from the clean water 
discharge of out Frampton works, Dr Price assured committee that the performance of 
the site was monitored and performed very well within the operating permit of the 
Environment Agency.  He would however check direct with the site to see if it had 
received complaints and revert after the meeting.  
In response to a question in respect of the Environment Agency Regulatory Position 
Statement regarding the spreading of bio-solids, committee were advised that Anglian 
Water had submitted, alongside other water companies, a proposal to the Environment 
Agency to include a package of 20 additional controls associated with their bio solids 
recycling operations. It included avoidance of sandy and high risk shallow soils and 
completing risk assessments when operating in specified sensitive catchments, to 
minimise the risk of diffuse pollution and allow agricultural recycling operations to 
continue in compliance with Farming Rules for Water.  Anglian Water has recently met 
with the Environment Agency to progress this and were hopeful they could agree a 
practicable resolution.   
 

Page 3



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
1 February 2022 
 

There was agreement that the 20 measures went above and beyond compliance with 
Farming Rules for Water and should provide the reassurance the Environment Agency 
need, that our operations pose a very low risk of diffuse agricultural pollution.  
Querying who would be delivering a new scheme in central Kirton and also what recent 
works had been undertaken on Middlegate Road, Dr Price confirmed that answers to 
both would be provided after the meeting.  
Further questions in respect of surface water provision on new developments were 
tabled and members were advised that Anglian Water had a pre-development team and 
whilst not being a statutory consultee on planning applications, they did seek to 
comment on applications of 10 dwellings or more, or in areas of particular concern. They 
worked directly with housing developers to promote the use of Sustainable Drainage 
Solutions (SuDS) having promoted the use of SuDs on new and redevelopments, and 
they did adopt sustainable drainage systems with adoption often seen as a blocker in 
promoting these solutions.    
Concerns were raised in respect of the lack of fluoridation in the borough with the area 
being so deprived and the effect on the populations teeth, and in particular those of the 
children, with Members asking how the area could have its water updated to include 
fluoride.  Dr Price advised that Anglian Water could not make the decision to fluoridate 
an area and that it could only act on an official request from the OHID (Office for Health 
Improvement and Disparities). He advised that he would seek a detailed response with 
relevant contact details to enable the Council to proceed should it so wish, but advised 
that many areas preferred hard water as against soft water, noting its significant health 
benefits as a source of calcium with lime scale being a natural occurrence.  Dr Price 
stressed that the water was not of poor quality and not contaminated.  
 
Final comments included the support for promotion of the recycling of water domestically 
to include water butts and smart metres.  Support of mandatory labelling on white goods 
and of standards for all new homes.    
 
In conclusion the Chairman thanked Dr Price and Ms. Shisler for their informative 
presentation and attendance.  
Dr Price confirmed that they would welcome the opportunity to return to committee with 
updates in respect of their ongoing plans.  
 
38   WORK PROGRAMME - Q2 PERFORMANCE MONITORING 

 
The Insights and Transformation Manager present the report advising it was in the same 
format as Q1 with all performance information tabled relating to both Scrutiny 
committees.  A brief summary was provided prior to committee comments: 
Housing and Wellbeing was better than target in respect of the number of properties 
improved through Council intervention.  However the percentage of cases opened at 
homelessness prevention stage was below target but a lot of new work and new 
measures were now in place.  The number of verified sleeps was worse than target but 
it was an aspirational target which the Council aimed to achieve.  
The percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at 
work was still below target however there was a marked improvement from the Q1 
return (61.58%) to the Q2 return (73.03%). Increased liaison with those members of the 
workforce who did not feel valued continues to take place and the alliance would look to 
gather staff engagement data from other local authorities to benchmark its’ own results.  
 
 

Page 4



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
1 February 2022 

 

 
Due to pending agreement from the Waste Disposal Authority in relation to changes in 
how recycling performance is measured, no data was available. However, the 
percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported was above 
target.  
Whilst all planning was below target, the local performance measures did exceed the 
national minimum requirement as they did not include agreed time extensions. In 
addition, the ongoing changes and general workloads within the service did impact on 
performance in the short term. Major applications commonly are those which require 
negotiations, amendments, Committee decisions or legal agreements. The Council may 
revert to national targets.  
The percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards 
Agency annual inspection plan were within tolerance. With the exception of a small 
number of fishing vessels which could not be inspected owing to the seasonal nature of 
their business, Boston was undertaking its food safety inspection programme as it did 
before the start of the pandemic. Unlike most, if not all, other local authorities, Boston 
has not had to implement the Food Standards Agency (FSA) recovery plan to retrieve 
the food safety inspection programme to where it was before the pandemic. As such the 
food safety inspections will be reported in the same way as before the service was 
disrupted by the pandemic, rather than against the FSA Recovery Plan. 
The time to process new Benefit claims was below target which had been hampered by 
balancing high workloads and resources, including the diversion of experienced 
resources to deliver Test and Trace along with work required to clear the backlog of un 
processed records that accumulated prior to PSPS taking over the service. 
The NDR collection rate was below target, but comparisons with targets and previous 
years are not valid, as the partial removal of Covid related reliefs part way through the 
year has meant that the liability is not distributed evenly throughout the year and is 
weighted towards the end of the year. A more accurate measure of performance would 
be available for in Q4. 
 
Member comment and questioning followed which included: 
 
Referencing the recent Member Working Group in respect of housing standards 
committee were asked to agree a way forward and their preference of which option of 
scrutiny.  Committee agreed that a Task and Finish Group be convened.   
Address the performance of the markets Members voiced concern at the continued low 
attendance of traders and the ongoing loss of reputation of the market as a destination.  
Concern was also noted on the detrimental impact Stickney Car Boot continued to have 
on Boston’s market. It appeared that whilst Boston’s charter which did not permit car 
boots on the market, East Lindsey District Councils charter did permit traders on a car 
boot event and had taken a number of Boston’s Saturday traders, reducing the stalls on 
the weekend market. Referencing the alliance, Members felt that East Lindsey District 
Council should be made aware of the detriment their car boot had caused on the 
established Saturday market and further impact on other business in the town from 
visitors to the market.  Committee agreed that a Member briefing be scheduled in the 
first instance to see the current position and the intentions to grow the market. 
 

 
The Meeting Closed at 9.10 pm 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 22 MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

ADOPTION OF CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

FOR MEMBERS TO RECEIVE THE FINAL VERSION OF THE CLIMATE 

CHANGE STRATEGY AND RECOMMEND ITS APPROVAL 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGER 

SARAH BAKER 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This report provides background to the accompanying Climate Change Strategy for the 

geographical area covered by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP). 

This document is the next step in our Climate Change aspirations, moving beyond the confines 

of our own carbon footprint and emissions to look at the wider issues for Climate Change in our 

local communities. S&ELCP cannot deliver this strategy in isolation and a new South and East 

Lincolnshire Climate Action Network (SELCAN) will be established to bring together all relevant 

partners and ensure delivery at all levels as we work towards a net zero ambition. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Environment and Performance Committee is asked to recommend approval of the final version 

of the Climate Change Strategy to Cabinet. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To progress work on the Climate Change Strategy and enable the establishment of a South and 

East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1. Since establishing Climate Change as a priority within the Corporate Strategy, Boston 

Borough Council has been working to address its own impact in terms of carbon emissions 

and commissioned the Carbon Trust to produce a Carbon Reduction Plan which was 

approved in January 2022. As part of that process, the Council committed to reduce its 

carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027 

ensuring it leads by example in encouraging the Borough as a whole to undertake similar 

steps. 

 

1.2. The development of a Climate Change Strategy for the wider Borough was identified in the 

work programme developed following the nine recommendations adopted by Council in 

January 2020, as put forward by the Climate Change Working Group. Those 

recommendations also identified that a citizen’s assembly should be established. Planning is 

now underway for a Climate Action Network which will take ownership of the Climate 

Change Strategy and lead delivery with the support of the Council. 

 

1.3. In October 2021, Cabinet agreed the draft Strategy for consultation. Consultation has 

subsequently taken place across Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland and the comments 

have informed this final version of the Strategy. 

 

2. REPORT 

Overview of the Strategy 

2.1. The Climate Change Strategy is one of the first major joint pieces of work for the South and 

East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) and seeks to provide an overarching 

framework to reduce emissions as a whole across Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland. It 

identifies the strategic themes and key sectors that are central to helping achieve the carbon 

reduction ambitions not just of the three Councils but of the UK as a whole as the nation 

seeks to be net zero by 2050. 

 

2.2. Delivery of the Strategy will be the responsibility of a new South and East Lincolnshire 

Climate Action Network (SELCAN), with the support of S&ELCP. SELCAN will bring together 

stakeholder representatives from across the area including relevant authorities, business 

leaders, non-governmental organisations and communities.  

 

2.3. The Strategy has used currently available data alongside recognised local priorities as the 

rationale for a number of key themes relevant to our area. Under each theme, the key 

challenges and opportunities have been identified and these link to an overarching strategic 

Page 8



action plan that will form the basis of the more detailed delivery plan which it is intended 

SELCAN will coordinate once established later this year. 

 

2.4. It is important to note that while the Strategy focuses on driving down carbon emissions, it 

also seeks to promote a more sustainable future for everyone which as well as helping to 

address Climate Change issues, will bring wider benefits for our local communities including 

improved health and wellbeing outcomes, economic prosperity and social value. 

 

Consultation overview and key changes to the document 

2.5. Public consultation began in November 2021. Due to the later inclusion of South Holland 

within the document, the governance around agreeing the draft strategy for consultation 

followed slightly behind Boston and East Lindsey and so the public consultation was split into 

two parts. 

 

2.6. For East Lindsey and Boston, an online public consultation was launched on 10 November 

2021 and ran for five weeks. A total of 55 responses were received during that period. 

 

2.7. In addition, two stakeholder workshops were held – one in Boston and one in Louth – which 

attracted 38 attendees and were very well received with an excellent mix of representation 

from organisations and sectors across the region including the Greater Lincolnshire Local 

Enterprise Partnership.  

 

2.8. The South Holland consultation was launched online on 10 January 2022 and ran for four 

weeks. A total of 14 responses were received during that period. 

 

2.9. Unfortunately, due to rises in Covid cases it was felt an in-person workshop would not be 

appropriate during the consultation period and an online webinar was instead organised for 

stakeholders in the South Holland area which was attended by 15 people. 

 

2.10. Further opportunities to engage with people about the Strategy consultation were also 

undertaken and included presentations to groups such as the Rural Lincolnshire Enterprise 

Hub. 

 

2.11. The stakeholder workshops in particular were very well received. Attendees were very 

engaged with the subject and keen to understand more about how they could be involved 

with delivery of the Strategy. 

 

2.12. Overall responses from both the workshops and consultation were that the Strategy 

presented a very clear and informative overview of the current picture in terms of Climate 

Change and the overall vision was strongly supported. 

 

2.13. The online consultation was designed to not only ask respondents to agree or disagree but to 

input more widely into the approach of the document and to help us understand the 

concerns of residents and businesses. Inevitably, this did lead to number of comments that 

Page 9



were outside the remit of the Strategy but there were also some very useful contributions 

which have been channelled into the final document. 

 

2.14. Across the workshops and consultation there were clear concerns that the document needed 

to focus on the overarching threads that cut across different sectors and bind the vision 

together. These were consistently highlighted as education, community engagement and 

innovation and use of new technology. For this reason, the final document has identified 

Innovation, People and Education as three lead areas which underpin the document. 

 

2.15. In terms of the sector themes, there was broad agreement that these covered the key areas 

although tourism was an area highlighted numerous times as appearing to be missing and 

one that has a significant impact. This has been addressed with the addition of Visitor 

Economy as a key theme within the strategy. Two themes have also been broadened slightly 

to reflect feedback that they were too narrow in their focus and this is reflected in the 

tweaks to Water Resources and Nature-based Solutions. 

 

2.16. The final, consistently highlighted, concern was that the document did not provide a strategic 

plan for delivery and there were no timelines against any identified needs. For this reason, 

the strategic actions which had been highlighted under each sector theme have all been 

moved to one overarching table – aligned to the three new lead areas. These have also been 

given indicative timescales. It was always the vision that a detailed delivery plan would be 

produced by SELCAN once established to ensure that action and progress are driven forward 

and monitored appropriately but this amendment hopefully helps to strengthen the vision 

that this document will provide the driver that is needed. 

 

SELCAN development 

 

2.17. Alongside the public consultation process, discussions have been taking place with 

stakeholders around the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action 

Network (SELCAN). Part of the stakeholder workshop was to consider how this might be 

structured and what the core aims and objectives might look like. 

 

2.18. Consensus was generally that one Strategic Board for the whole area would be the most 

appropriate governance method – comprised of equal representation from the private, 

public and third sector. Under this, thematic lead groups or specific task and finish groups 

could be established as needed to address particular topics or areas of work and these would 

enable greater engagement of additional stakeholders as required. The need to engage youth 

ambassadors specifically was highlighted and is something the Climate Change and 

Environment Team is currently working on. 

 

2.19. During the course of the consultation, conversations were held with the Greater Lincolnshire 

LEP about whether they could support or link in with SELCAN. These discussions will need to 

continue but with Lincoln already having its own Climate Commission and other districts 

likely to follow suit it was felt there could perhaps be an overarching link between the 

different commissions and the LEP at a strategic level.  

Page 10



 

2.20. Discussions have been held with the Place-based Climate Action Network (PCAN) which 

supports Lincoln Climate Commission, Yorkshire & Humber Climate Commission and many 

others around the country and it was agreed that linking SELCAN to PCAN would be a positive 

step. It will ensure SELCAN is part of a nationwide network that enables knowledge sharing 

and support but does not restrict local operation to a particular format or agenda. 

 

2.21. A Terms of Reference for SELCAN will be established in due course and it is hoped the first 

meeting will take place by May/June 2022. 

 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1. By taking the lead on developing a Climate Change Strategy for South and East Lincolnshire, 

the Councils of Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland are sending a clear message both 

locally, and nationally, that they are committed to playing their part in tackling the challenges 

Climate Change presents. Success cannot be achieved in isolation and in fostering new 

relationships and strengthening existing ones, the three Councils will promote a coordinated 

and collaborative approach to addressing a global issue. Successful delivery of this Strategy 

will ultimately lead to more vibrant, cohesive and healthier communities which appreciate 

the importance of a balanced, sustainable future in delivering multiple benefits for everyone. 

 

3.2. The public consultation has been very well received and demonstrated clear support for what 

we are seeking to achieve. The adoption of this Climate Change Strategy is just the start of an 

exciting partnership approach. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The Climate Change Strategy is the first major three-way piece of work to have been developed by 

the Partnership and demonstrates the commitment of all three Councils in taking forward this 

agenda. It will demonstrate both locally and nationally that there is a strategic plan in place with 

strong leadership which will hopefully place the region in a beneficial position when it comes to 

accessing and drawing down external funding to support various projects and initiatives. 

 

The Strategy and the associated Climate Action Network will enable engagement of key 

stakeholders across the sub-region to ensure that knowledge sharing, partnership working and an 

inclusive approach to managing the challenges and opportunities that will be presented is 

achieved. 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

Development of this single Strategy with all Partners in the S&ELCP provides a single policy 

platform enabling collaboration and shared learning across the sub region and to drive actions at a 

larger scale and pace for the benefit of our communities and the environment in which we live, 

work and enjoy. 

 Page 11



CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The Strategy will support the Council in meeting its Corporate aims around Environmental 

Awareness and Accountability with particular support for the objective to be aware and spearhead 

the change in thinking about the impact that our actions have, not only on the local environment 

here in Boston but also on the entire planet. 

 

STAFFING 

There will be some facilitation time required to provide ongoing support to SELCAN. This can be 

absorbed within the current resources of the Climate Change and Environment Team. 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Local authorities have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and mitigate 

climate change in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008 and failure to do so 

could result in a legal challenge being made. 

DATA PROTECTION 

None. 

 

FINANCIAL 

There are no immediate financial implications for the Council arising from adoption of this strategy. 
A small cost outlay will be required to provide the ongoing administrative support to SELCAN but 
this can be managed within existing budgets. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Council is at risk of failing on its commitments set out in its Corporate Plan if it fails to adopt 

and then deliver the objectives set out in this Strategy. There are no direct financial implications 

from adopting this strategy. The main risk would be reputational if the Council failed to act in a way 

that supports the vision and aspirations of the Strategy going forward and omits to lead residents, 

the business community and stakeholders by setting a good example. 

 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Public consultation was undertaken in Winter 2022 via an online questionnaire and stakeholder 

workshops. Corporate Management Team and Service Managers have been given the opportunity 

to provide feedback on the document and a briefing was also given to the Council’s Environment 

and Performance Committee on 26 October 2021 and 22 March 2022. 

 

REPUTATION 

Facilitating the development of the Climate Change Strategy and SELCAN demonstrates S&ELCP’s 

commitment to community leadership, to working towards net zero and ensuring a sustainable 

future for residents, businesses and visitors to the region. It is important that the Council ensures 

Page 12



its own operations and future activities support the vision and outcomes of the Strategy going 

forward otherwise there is a potential reputational risk. As a Partnership we want to be at the 

forefront of tackling the climate change and environmental challenges we face as a sub region and 

globally but accept that we may not get it right all of the time. 

 

CONTRACTS 

None. 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None. 

 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

There are no specific implications arising from this report, however inclusivity and a just-transition 

for all to ensure that financial and technological barriers do not prevent residents and businesses 

moving forward on the agenda are key to the Strategy and will be picked up by SELCAN’s Terms of 

Reference. 

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None directly but the actions arising from the Strategy implementation will deliver multiple 

benefits as part of providing a more sustainable future for the sub-region. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Climate Change Strategy will not only have a positive impact on driving down carbon emissions 

across Boston Borough but it will deliver outcomes that support all four key themes of the 

Council’s adopted Environment Policy to protect and enhance our natural environment, adapt and 

mitigate to climate change, enhance our built environment and ensure a sustainable approach to 

waste and resource management. 

 

Annual emissions figures for the Borough are compiled by the Department for Business, Energy 

and Industrial Strategy and continual reductions need to be achieved as we all play our part in 

achieving the UK’s commitment to be net zero by 2050. 

 

ACRONYMS 

S&ELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

SELCAN – South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 

PCAN – Place-based Climate Action Network 

Page 13



APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Climate Change Strategy 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Environment Policy https://www.mybostonuk.com/environment-policy-

2021/ 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

Environment and Performance Committee 26 October 2021  

Cabinet  19 October 2021 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sarah Baker 

Climate Change and Environment Manager 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Assistant Director Regulatory 

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner 

Leader 

 

  

Page 14



FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

FINAL - SPRING 2022

served by One Team

P
age 17



2 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Contents
Foreword ...............................................................................................................3

Introduction ..........................................................................................................3

Setting the context .............................................................................................4

The Vision ..............................................................................................................6

The current picture for South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey ...............6

How is South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership  
leading by example .............................................................................................9

A framework for action ..................................................................................... 11

Linking the focus areas to the key themes ....................................................18

Strategic Action Plan ........................................................................................ 22

Delivering this Strategy ................................................................................... 25

Glossary ...............................................................................................................27

P
age 18



3 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Foreword Introduction
Climate Change is widely considered to be one of, if not the 
greatest, challenge facing our society.

Its impact is already being felt, most noticeably through the increasing occurrence of 
extreme weather events such as exceptional rainfall and rising temperatures. Responding 
to the challenges and finding ways to slow down further changes are tasks which will take 
time and require input at all scales from local through to international, from individual 
actions to policy changes at the highest levels.

Local authorities are well placed to drive forward and influence the action required. 
Through the services we deliver, the strategic and regulatory functions we provide and 
through our position as community leaders we can help to educate, guide and implement 
some of the changes we must make as a society to play our part but we will need to work 
together to achieve what is required.

Many of the possible approaches have multiple benefits in not only building resilience 
and driving down emissions, but also in helping to deliver positive outcomes for the 
natural environment and the health and wellbeing of our communities. It is imperative 
that we re-frame the issue of Climate Change to one which demonstrates how taking 
action can improve quality of life for everyone.

The purpose of this Climate Change Strategy is to provide direction around how to 
achieve a more sustainable future across South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey as we 
all work towards a shared net zero target. That must ensure an approach that balances 
economic, social and environmental considerations equally. It is heavily focused on 
mitigation - actions to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system, 
primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions - but some degree of Climate 
Change is still inevitable and adaptation will also have an important role to play.

P
age 19



4 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Setting the Context
The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) 
defines Climate Change as, “A change of climate which is attributed directly or 
indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere 
and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable 
time periods.” 

They key cause of human contribution to Climate Change is through the 
increased production of Greenhouse Gases (GHGs). GHGs such as carbon 
dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide occur naturally in the Earth’s atmosphere, 
trapping heat and energy from the sun in a process known as the ‘greenhouse 
effect’. Increases to GHG emissions push up levels of heat and energy in the 
Earth’s atmosphere, causing a rise in global temperatures.

To give an indication of how things have changed, carbon dioxide levels in the 
atmosphere are greater than they have been at any point in the last 800,000 
years. The last time the Earth saw similar levels was around 4-million years ago 
when the average temperature was 2-4°C warmer than today, and the sea level 
was 10-25m higher1. 

International Context
The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on Climate Change 
adopted by 196 parties, including the UK Government, at COP 21 in December 
2015. Its goal is to limit global warming to well below a 2°C increase, preferably 
to a 1.5°C increase, compared to pre-industrial levels.

In response to that decision, the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) published a special report in 2018 on the impact a 1.5°C 
rise in global temperatures would have on our planet and the critical steps that 
needed to be taken to try and keep rises below that level.

Action by the UK Government
The 2008 Climate Change Act set out a legal framework for the UK to cut 
greenhouse gas emissions to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. It represented the first 
global, legally-binding Climate Change mitigation target to be made by a country. 

The Act also established the Committee on Climate Change (CCC), an 
independent body which provides evidence-based advice to Government.  In 
2019, the CCC published its own report, supporting the findings of the IPCC and 
advising the UK Government to revise its long term 2050 carbon emissions. 
This saw a new target adopted to cut GHG emissions to net zero by 2050 with 
the UK Government becoming the first country to nationally declare a Climate 
Emergency in May 2019.

As the UK prepared to host the COP26 climate summit in 2021, the UK’s sixth 
carbon budget set out the world’s most ambitious Climate Change target to 
reduce emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels, with the budget 
also incorporating the UK’s share of international aviation and shipping 
emissions for the first time.1 Siegert, M., Haywood, A. Lunt, D., van de Flierdt, T., Francis, J. (2020) What ancient climates tell us 

about high carbon dioxide concentrations in Earth’s atmosphere, Grantham Institute Briefing Note 13, 
Imperial College London. https://doi.org/10.25561/79292.

P
age 20



5 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The Local Picture
It is important to try and translate all that is happening at a national and global 
scale into meaningful action at a local level.

In Lincolnshire, while all local authorities are moving at different paces, there 
is a shared common goal to not only achieve net zero but to achieve a more 
sustainable way of living that protects and improves our communities. Those 
involved with Climate Change across the county are working closely together 
to ensure we are sharing knowledge and learning from each other. Lincolnshire 
County Council launched its Green Masterplan in 2020 to set out the guiding 
principles of how we can collectively meet the challenges and opportunities 
Climate Change presents. These are:

• Don’t waste anything - working toward a circular economy

• Consider wider opportunities - working in partnership to share funding, 
experience and networks and prevent duplication of effort.

• Take responsibility and pride - to cherish, protect and improve the county 
we have many reasons to be proud of

Net Zero defined
Many different terms are often associated with reducing emissions but it is 
important to understand the distinctions between them.

Achieving net zero emissions means to pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned 
science-based target for full value chain emissions i.e. Scope 1, 2 and 3 
emissions. Where any residual emissions remain these can be offset with 
certified Greenhouse Gas removal mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon 
capture technology.

Scope Emission 
Type

Definition Examples

Scope 1 Direct 
Emissions

Emissions from sources directly 
owned or controlled by the 
reporting body

Natural gas, fleet

Scope 2 Indirect 
Emissions

Indirect emissions from the 
generation of purchased energy 
consumed by the reporting body

Electricity

Scope 3 Upstream and downstream 
emissions that occur in the value 
chain of the reporting body

Business travel and 
commuting, waste, 
water, procured 
goods and services

This contrasts with, for example, carbon neutral targets which may not account 
for all emissions Scopes and which allow emissions to be offset by high quality, 
certified carbon credits.

P
age 21



6 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Carbon Management Hierarchy
The key priority in seeking to reduce emissions is that there should be a 
hierarchical approach to their management which seeks to eliminate them as far 
as possible, followed by carbon and energy reduction and then by substitution 
measures such as low-carbon alternatives like renewable energy. Compensation 
measures are then the final step once other options have been exhausted.

These principles are best outlined in the IEMA Greenhouse Gas Management 
Hierarchy (updated 2020):

ELIMINATE • Influence business decisions / use to prevent GHG 
emissions across the lifecycle

• Potential exists when organisations change, expand, 
rationalise or move business

• Transition to new business model, alternative operation 
or new product/service

REDUCE • Real and relative (per unit) reductions in carbon and 
energy

• Efficiency in operations, processes, fleet and energy 
management

• Optimise approaches (e.g. technology and digital as 
enablers)

SUBSTITUTE • Adopt renewables/low carbon technologies (on site, 
transport, etc)

• Reduce carbon (GHG) intensity of energy use and of 
energy purchased

• Purchase inputs and services with lower embodied/
embedded emissions

COMPENSATE • Compensate ‘unavoidable’ residual emissions (removals, 
offsets etc)

• Investigate land management, value chain, asset sharing, 
carbon credits

• Support climate action and developing carbon markets

The Vision
The areas covered by South Holland District Council,  
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District 
Council achieve net zero emissions in advance of the 
UK Government. In doing so, action supports social, 
economic and environmental outcomes that help 
adapt and mitigate to climate change and build a more 
sustainable future for our local communities.

The current picture for South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey
Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the main greenhouse gas, accounting for 80% of GHG 
emissions in the UK in 20192. Data published by the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy on an annual basis provides the latest estimates 
of end-user CO2 emissions for local authority areas in the UK.

2 UK local authority carbon dioxide emissions estimates 2019

P
age 22



7 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

South Holland
Emissions in South Holland reduced by 25.8% between 2005 and 2019. The 
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land 
use, land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 190.7 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 140.5 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

109.2 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires.

Industrial 91.1 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 44.3 All other SIC07 subsections
Agriculture 20.1 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 

agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 7.2 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 603.1

Boston
In Boston, emissions reduced by 35.29% between 2005 and 2019. Transport and 
domestic properties are again the main two contributors with emissions from 
industry also coming in the top three for emissions.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 117.5 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes

Housing 94.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Industrial 52.8 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42

Commercial 21.9 All other SIC07 subsections
Agriculture 9.5 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 

agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 8.7 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

LULUCF 8.3 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood 
products, and of other greenhouse gases from 
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands) 
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation 
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter, 
and fires. 

TOTAL 313.7

P
age 23



8 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

3 Gouldson, A. Sudmant, A. Duncan, A. (2019). “A summary carbon roadmap for Boston”. Place based 
Climate Action Network, https://pcancities.org.uk/

East Lindsey
Emissions in East Lindsey reduced by 27.31% between 2005 and 2019. The three 
largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land use, 
land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 
(2019)

Detail

Transport 274.2 Emissions include freight and passenger transport, 
both for private and business purposes.

Housing 224.9 Emissions from energy consumption in and around 
the home

Land Use, 
Land Use 
Change and 
Forestry 
(LULUCF)

174.0 Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the 
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland, 
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood products, 
and of other greenhouse gases from drainage (excl. 
croplands and intensive grasslands) and rewetting 
of soils, nitrogen mineralisation associated with loss 
and gain of soil organic matter, and fires.

Industrial 90 Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32, 
35-39 & 42.

Commercial 66.2 All other SIC07 subsections.
Agriculture 49.9 Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock, 

agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes 
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and 
agricultural machinery.

Public Sector 15.1 Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public 
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07 
subsections 84-87.

TOTAL 894.2

The Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has argued that from 
2020, keeping within a global carbon budget of 344 billion tonnes of GHG 
emissions would give us a 66% chance of limiting average warming to 1.5 
degrees and therefore avoiding dangerous levels of climate change.

If we divide this global figure up on an equal basis by population, this gives East 
Lindsey a total carbon budget of 6 megatonnes (i.e. 6 million tonnes) from 20203.

Based only on the fuel and electricity used within its boundaries, East Lindsey 
currently emits c.0.8 million tonnes of carbon a year, meaning that it would use 
up its carbon budget in just over 7.5 years.

With on-going decarbonisation of electricity, and taking into account population 
and economic growth, it is projected that East Lindsey’s 2005 level of emissions 
will have fallen by 44% by 2050. If however it is to stay within its carbon 
budget, East Lindsey needs to reduce its emissions by 9.5% year on year.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for East Lindsey.

P
age 24



9 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Similarly, Boston has a budget of 3 megatonnes (i.e. 3 million tonnes) which at 
current rates would be exhausted in 9 years. However, Boston could stay within 
its carbon budget by reducing its emissions by 8.2% year on year.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for Boston.

The carbon budget for South Holland is currently being calculated.

How is South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership leading by 
example?

Focus 1: Reduce the carbon footprint of our 
own activities
Both East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and Boston Borough Council (BBC) 
have engaged the Carbon Trust to produce Carbon Reduction Plans for their own 
operations. The ELDC plan was adopted in November 2019 and the BBC plan is 
due to be finalised in Autumn 2021. 

Both Councils have adopted net zero commitments in advance of the UK 
Government with ELDC specifying a target to reduce emissions from its own 
operations by 45% by 2027 and to net zero by 2040. Action Plans setting out 
the projects and initiatives required to deliver the reductions needed are being 
implemented to ensure progress remains on track.

Adapting and mitigating to climate change requires an holistic approach to 
sustainability in addition to emissions reductions. Both Councils have agreed 
priorities within their Corporate Strategies in relation to tackling climate change. 
New Environment Policies have also been adopted to set out the framework for 
how they will work to protect the natural environment for residents and visitors.

South Holland District Council joined with Boston and East Lindsey to form the 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) in September 2021. 
This provides an opportunity to understand existing actions the Council has 

P
age 25



10 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

taken which contribute to the agenda whilst also working closely with Boston 
and East Lindsey to identify opportunities to align policy and processes where 
appropriate.

Leading by example is key and through both existing service provision and 
new developments and initiatives we will ensure implications for our carbon 
footprints are fully considered from the outset.

Focus 2: Support and facilitate partnership 
working of stakeholders throughout South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey to take action 
to achieve net zero emissions across the area
All three Councils have a key role to play in both leading by example and 
supporting the wider community to deliver this climate change strategy. While 
their sphere of influence is limited, they are well placed to drive and influence 
change through the services they deliver, as trusted community leaders and 
through their regulatory and strategic functions. Key activities will include:

• Support the vulnerable and fuel-poor households with energy efficiency 
measures

• Local Plans that supports sustainable development and climate change 
adaptation/mitigation

• Guidance for businesses on adaptation to climate change

• Work with businesses to understand and reduce their carbon footprints

• Support town and parish councils to take action at a local level

• Identify strategic sites for biodiversity net gain and carbon offsetting 
initiatives

• Strengthen and enhance existing ecological networks to build resilience 
to climate change

• Ensure spatial planning plays a key role in the transition to a low-carbon 
society

Focus 3: Climate Change Adaptation
Adaptation: Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to the 
actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or exploit 
beneficial opportunities.

• Undertake a comprehensive risk-based assessment of vulnerabilities to 
weather and climate within the SELCP area

• Develop an adaptation plan that details the SELCP’s response to the 
evidence of our changing climate

• Review procurement procedures to embed adaptation and mitigation 
approaches into key contracts and services

• Ensure effective partnership working to address climate change risks 
across administrative boundaries

P
age 26



11 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

A framework for action 
The scope of emissions that is in the direct control 
or influence of the three councils is relatively small. 
This strategy seeks to provide an overarching 
framework to reduce emissions as a whole across 
South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey.

A number of strategic themes have been identified 
as central to the road to net zero, but achieving the 
necessary outcomes will need cross sector input 
from a wide range of stakeholders working towards 
a common goal.

Many of the themes will also involve a number of 
cross-cutting elements and taking forward action 
will require an holistic view of the interdependencies 
and multiple benefits that are at play.

Following stakeholder engagement into the strategy 
in Autumn/Winter 2021, three overarching focus 
areas were consistently highlighted as golden 
threads which should run throughout the strategy: 
Innovation, Education and People.

These overarching focus areas have not only 
been identified as central to the road to net 
zero but to recognise that there are a number of 
interdependencies and cross-cutting areas that need 
to be considered.

Overarching focus areas

Innovation

The transition to net zero will require both technological and cultural change on a level which for 
many is currently difficult to comprehend. While planning for this change is challenging, it presents 
huge opportunities for creative ideas and new ways of working and the chance for South and East 
Lincolnshire to be trailblazers for both developing and embracing change.

Education

Education is key to bringing about the cultural shifts that will be required in the way we go about 
our daily lives. It is also vital to upskilling our local workforce and ensuring private and public sector 
support for training and development. Whether it is equipping young people with the knowledge and 
skills they need to gain employment or supporting those in traditional ‘high carbon’ industries to 
reskill, education is central to ensuring the opportunities that the climate change agenda presents are 
not missed. Carbon Literacy training across all sectors will have a key role to play.

People

The community of South and East Lincolnshire is central to the success of this strategy. Whether 
residents, visitors or those involved in business – everyone has a role to play in the road to net zero. 
This strategy must recognise that people are all in different places on that journey and it is imperative 
that a just transition brings everyone along and excludes no-one from playing their part. The 
engagement of youth ambassadors is an important focus of this thread.

P
age 27



12 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

A series of key sector themes underpin this approach, reflecting the input 
that will be required to achieve the necessary outcomes from a wide range of 
stakeholders across South and East Lincolnshire.

Key themes

Transport

Built Environment

Energy/Renewables

Business

Agriculture/Food

Water Resources

Nature-based Solutions

Visitor Economy

Transport

Emissions from the transport sector are the largest contributors to the carbon 
footprints of the SELCP area accounting for 37% of Boston’s total emissions, 
32% of South Holland’s and 31% of East Lindsey’s. Emissions attributable to 
transport across all three areas are rising as a proportion of all emissions. 

Reducing emissions and the promotion of more sustainable travel solutions are 
included to some extent in existing travel plans and strategies in the county with 
a new Lincolnshire Transport Plan due to be adopted in early 2022. A Ultra-Low 
Emission Vehicle Strategy is currently in progress and set to be agreed in 2021.

An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) currently exists at Haven Bridge and 
Boston Borough Council coordinates an Action Plan which includes steps that 
will achieve mutually beneficial outcomes.

Challenges/Opportunities
Development of the Port of Boston as a fresh fruit and vegetables hub is already 
starting to tackle the need for lower carbon supply chains. Furthermore, Town 
Deals for both Boston and Skegness include plans to enhance their respective 
railway stations along with the growth of walking and cycling options.

A large number of businesses, particularly in the agri-food supply chain across 
Boston and South Holland, rely on the road network to support their operations 
to ensure timely delivery and dispatch of produce.

P
age 28



13 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The rural nature of the region means there is limited travel connectivity, 
particularly along the coast, and many towns are poorly served by public 
transport. This will make decarbonising transport a challenging task in the years 
ahead with residents often having to travel several kilometres to access key 
services such as doctors and supermarkets. 

While electric vehicles provide one potential option, as technology advances it 
is likely there will be a mixture of solutions adopted and opportunities to trial 
alternatives such as hydrogen or compressed natural gas should be embraced.

Built Environment

Emissions from energy consumption in and around domestic properties is the 
second largest contributor to carbon emissions across the area. Without action 
emissions in this sector are predicted to increase by 2050 by as much 8% across 
South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey.

The challenges in this sector going forward are two-fold: both ensuring that new 
builds and retrofits of existing properties are fit for the future but also ensuring 
that developments continue to be considered economically viable once new 
technologies are incorporated.

The communities of South and East Lincolnshire are rural in nature with high 
proportions of off-gas grid properties still reliant on solid-fuel systems. A 
range of initiatives will be required to educate and find solutions to alternative 
methods of heating residents’ homes.

Consideration also needs to be given to the issue of both retrofit and new 
developments fit for the future within the commercial sector.

Challenges/Opportunities
Currently all new developments must meet the energy efficiency standards 
required by UK Building Regulations. The Government is consulting on updated 
standards for new homes which are expected to include a ban on gas boilers 
from 2025 amongst other measures.

Engagement with developers will be key to finding solutions which will enable 
the development of affordable, energy efficient homes.

There is also an increasing understanding of the need to reduce embodied 
carbon in new build and retrofit schemes and this is likely to gain further 
traction in the next few years.

The challenges of retrofitting heritage buildings also needs to be considered 
to identify how we improve the thermal efficiency of listed buildings and 
conservation areas across the region without compromising history and 
appearance.

Energy/Renewables

Taken as a whole across the different sectors, energy consumption is the largest 
source of emissions across the area. Whether through the heating of private 
or public sector property or through energy usage as part of industrial and 
commercial processes, there will need to be significant changes to the way 
energy is both produced and consumed.

In terms of energy demand, South Holland, East Lindsey and Boston all perform 
poorly on fuel poverty with all three having a higher percentage of households 
in fuel poverty than the national average.

P
age 29



14 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

A key challenge for the whole area is in terms of network capacity which at 
times are currently presenting a barrier to renewable generation and storage. 
Engagement with the Distribution Network Operators will be essential as will 
the ability to project accurately potential expansion and take up of particular 
technologies to ensure the energy infrastructure is able to meet demand.

Challenges/Opportunities
Nationally, renewable energy generation continues to grow with 42% of 
electricity produced in 2020 from wind, solar, water and wood compared with 
41% generated from gas and coal plants. If this growth on the path to net zero is 
to continue however, small scale renewables solutions together with larger scale 
developments are going to be essential to achieving the net zero aspirations. 

As a coastal sub-region, any opportunities to harness opportunities presented 
from tidal energy should always be kept in mind.

Business

Emissions from industrial and commercial activities combined make up another 
significant proportion of the carbon footprint of the SELCP area.

The employment share by sector can be broken down as shown below, with 
key areas including public admin, education and health; wholesale and retail; 
business, financial and professional services and manufacturing. The main 
difference is the significant proportion of accommodation and food services 
employment in East Lindsey.

Employment share by sector (%) across East Lindsey, Boston and  
South Holland

P
age 30



15 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Challenges/Opportunities
Since the height of the Covid-19 pandemic in early 2020, many businesses 
have adopted new ways of working in particular with many employees working 
from home and reducing business travel. Harnessing those gains needs to be 
continued to ensure a green recovery.

Consumers have a large power of influence and businesses are set to see 
increasing pressure to meet the challenges and opportunities of moving towards 
circular economy - reducing waste and protecting natural resources.

Agriculture/Food

Agriculture is one of the dominant industries across the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area. The Agri-Food industry as a whole plays a 
major role in the region’s economy and the development of a South Lincolnshire 
Food Enterprise Zone at Holbeach aims to promote innovation within the sector 
including areas such as low carbon technology. 

The sector has a relatively unique position in being able to influence both 
emissions and sequestration of GHGs. Unlike most other sectors however, only 
around 10% of emissions are carbon dioxide with nitrous dioxide and methane 
making up the majority. These can be more complex to address because of the 
involvement of natural processes.

Arable cropping and salad/vegetables are the primary production types across 
the area but there are also a number of livestock operations. Horticulture is 
also a key part of this sector, particularly in South Holland, and growers have an 
equally important role to play in leading and driving change.

Farmed area by type (hectares)
No. of 
holdings

Farmed 
area

Cereals Arable 
(exc 
cereals)

Fruit and 
Veg

Grassland

Boston 277 31,894 10,969 8,274 7,149 3,368
East 
Lindsey

1,131 145,462 70,540 36,576 6,237 21,097

South 
Holland

608 64,062 30,050 18,806 7,126 3,395

Challenges/Opportunities
Agriculture is not only well placed to lead on changes to reduce emissions. 
Farmers are also the custodians of our natural environment and have an 
important role to play in nature’s recovery with innovative solutions offering the 
opportunity to deliver multiple benefits to society.

There will be challenges ahead as the impact of our diets on climate change 
continues to undergo scrutiny and a new Agriculture Bill seeks to deliver 
significant changes to the way farm support is delivered.

P
age 31



16 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Water Resources

Water is a key theme because it covers not only consumption and resource 
management but also flood risk from coastal inundation, rivers and surface 
water. The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area is particularly 
vulnerable to climate change impacts because of a relatively low rainfall and its 
low-lying nature with a long coastline. 

In East Lindsey alone, 38% of the District is at risk from coastal inundation 
alone, with additional risk over coming from surface water flooding i.e. from 
rivers, drains and localised flooding.

Across the area, the considerable risk of flooding is substantially reduced by 
the work of internal drainage boards in partnership with other bodies such as 
the Environment Agency. This does inevitably mean that significant energy and 
financial resources are spent on removing water from the region for much of the 
time which is then unavailable during drier periods. 

Challenges/Opportunities
Climate change is expected to lead to warmer and drier summers together with 
milder and wetter winters and the ability to manage water to ensure supply is 
available where and when it is needed is essential.

Given the area’s coastal geography, sea level rise undoubtedly presents one of 
the biggest challenges for the future and partnership working will be vital to 
ensuring effective adaptation and mitigation strategies.

Nature-based Solutions

Climate change will add to the increasing pressures on our natural environment 
but if managed correctly, the natural environment can also play a key role in 
how we mitigate for and adapt to the challenges it presents.

The SELCP area is fortunate to be home to Lincolnshire Wolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty with the internationally important estuaries of The 
Wash and The Humber on its doorstep. It has a total of 74 designated sites of 
national/international importance.

There are also 514 locally designated biodiversity and geodiversity sites in South 
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey although just 41% are considered as being 
‘positively’ managed - the vast majority are in Boston and South Holland.

It is important to recognise that the wider importance of the natural 
environment must expand well beyond designated sites.

Challenges/Opportunities
Carbon sequestration, water storage, water quality, flood protection and urban 
cooling can all be delivered through a well-managed natural environment 
together with a range of societal benefits such as green tourism and improved 
health and wellbeing. The fenland landscape of South Lincolnshire holds 
significant potential in particular through tackling both climate change and 
biodiversity loss through the opportunity to restore peatland sites which provide 
the Earth’s largest terrestrial carbon stores.

P
age 32



17 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

The Environment Act 2022 aims to halt the decline of nature by the end of 2030 
by restoring natural habitats and increasing biodiversity. It gives local authorities 
an important role to place in not only putting spatial planning for nature on a 
statutory footing but also in working in partnership to ensure a Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy delivers action which enables both nature and people to 
thrive.

Visitor Economy

Tourism is already an important part of the South and East Lincolnshire 
economy, particularly along the coastline of East Lindsey. It does however mean 
that there is a large influx of people to the area and so ensuring visitors are 
engaged with, and catered for, in a changing environment will be key.

The rural nature of the region often means that access to the area by public 
transport is more challenging and a large proportion of visitors travel by private 
car. Access to the coast in particular, can already put a strain on the existing 
road infrastructure at peak periods.

Awareness of the need for sustainable tourism is growing and the area will need 
to ensure it is able to offer opportunity for climate conscious visitors to access 
and enjoy low carbon experiences in the region.

Challenges/Opportunities
There is already a focus on the impact of international travel and foreign 
holidays on carbon emissions and as awareness around this grows, people may 
choose to take more holidays within the UK with coastal locations likely to be 
the most attractive. 

Many thousands of visitors to the area stay in accommodation such as caravans 
which are potentially more vulnerable to the impacts of extreme heat or 
flooding and this will need to be considered going forward.

Weather and climate are anticipated to have an impact on tourism patterns and 
an understanding of how this may change travel behaviours will be important. 
Higher temperatures could push more people away from inland sites to the 
coast and may also see more tourists coming to the UK from abroad where 
temperatures, e.g. in the Mediterranean, become too great. Overall visitor 
patterns may see a shift in peak travel periods away from the summer season 
into spring or autumn as temperatures are more appealing. 

Ensuring that local infrastructure can meet the needs of visitors such as enabling 
them to charge electric vehicles or find shelter from excessive heat will need to 
be a key part of tourism industry planning across our region.

P
age 33



18 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Linking the focus areas to the  
key themes

Innovation

Transport: technological innovation is key to the decarbonisation of transport. 
Current focus is predominantly on electrifying fleets but workable solutions 
for Heavy Goods Vehicles are still complex and it a combination of low-carbon 
solutions is likely to be the reality in the short to medium term. At the current 
time, the challenges of rolling out the required charging infrastructure for 
domestic and commercial use must be addressed

Built Environment: innovation in the built environment sector will be multi-
faceted and include the reimagining of traditional development methods 
together with the inclusion of new and emerging technologies across the energy, 
water and construction sectors. Innovation will also play an important role in 
finding solutions to both retrofit schemes and new developments which address 
viability concerns within the sector currently, particularly across our region. 
Innovation will be crucial not only in reducing carbon emissions but in adapting 
buildings to reduce vulnerability to those that inhabit them from temperature 
extremes and flood risk.

Energy/Renewables: renewable energy generation is central to a net zero 
future and while this sector continues to grow there is still huge scope for 
small-scale domestic and commercial utilisation of the technology. Supporting 
residents and businesses to explore this will be vital together with ensuring the 
region is not left behind in the innovation needed to future-proof the energy 
distribution network.

Business: opportunity exists for SMEs across the region to not only embrace 
innovative ways of working but to be involved in developing future technology. 
There will also be a role for knowledge-sharing to take place between businesses 
and for those that are further ahead on the net zero journey to support and 
guide others in how to make the necessary steps. Opportunities for new 
businesses to position themselves in the low-carbon sector must also be 
harnessed to support local jobs and local supply chains.

Agriculture: there is much talk within the farming industry around potential 
for a ‘fourth agricultural revolution’ referring to the opportunity that new 
technology is anticipated to bring to the sector. In particular, the use of Artificial 
Intelligence is receiving heavy investment for the opportunities it presents 
to boost food production while minimising environmental degradation. The 
University of Lincoln is at the leading edge of this work and makes our region 
well placed to pioneer the use of advance in technology. Smaller farmers/
growers must be supported to ensure they too can embrace the revolution.

Water Resources: water must be seen as a valuable commodity and a shift in 
focus needs to happen from removing it from our region as quickly as possible, 
to enabling innovation in terms of storage and reuse to ensure a constant 
supply when needed most. Difficult and challenging new approaches to water 
management may also be required to address the threat presented by the flood 
risk from coastal inundation, rivers and surface water.

Nature-based Solutions: The natural environment has the potential to 
provide some of the most effective tools to help combat climate change and 
provide a more sustainable way of living for the future. Technology, along with 
behavioural change, can help restore healthy natural systems. In addition, 
placing an economic value on nature through a Natural Capital approach can 
help incorporate the wider benefits of the environment into decision making at 
all levels.

P
age 34



19 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Visitor Economy: Innovation in this sector is likely to focus initially around 
better data and understanding of how climate change may impact on people’s 
travel decisions and behaviours. Cross sector opportunities for diversification 
into the tourism industry are also likely to exist, such as those linked to the 
agricultural sector. Ensuring that the region keeps up with innovation in other 
sectors – particularly around transport – will also be important to ensure there 
are no limitations on how people travel to the region or how they move about 
during their stay.

People

Transport: Supporting local people to make more sustainable travel choices will 
be a challenging issue for the region. Not only are public transport links often 
limited, the rural nature of the county makes switching to alternatives such as 
walking or cycling are often less feasible and there are also challenges in the 
short to medium term of ensuring sufficient infrastructure is in place for any 
transition to electric vehicles. With high levels of fuel poverty and deprivation, 
the ability for many people to switch to greener vehicles due to cost is also an 
inhibitor and there will be challenges to address around ensuring an inclusive 
transition for all. 

Built Environment: Changes in the built environment sector towards greater 
use of smart building management systems (both domestic and commercial) 
and technological changes particularly around heating, will require easily 
accessed advice for local people. There will also be the need for support, 
particularly for residents, to ensure they are not left behind in the transition 
because of difficulties in accessing new technology or funding the changes that 
are needed.

Energy/Renewables: Fuel poverty is already a key area of concern for the 
region and with energy costs continuing to rise the move away from reliance 
on fossil-fuel heating, in a similar way to transport, is as much about an 
inclusive transition for all as it is reducing carbon emissions. The sector will also 
support the potential to upskill and retrain local people, providing a range of 
employment opportunities.

Business: The transition to net zero will provide opportunities for SMEs but 
support for people on how to change and adapt to ensure they can meet the 

P
age 35



20 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

challenges and cease opportunity will be important. Recognition schemes 
which highlight the green credentials of businesses will help to showcase those 
making change and help local people to buy with confidence and make more 
sustainable choices.

Agriculture: Providing opportunities for local, affordable supply chains will 
enable people to make more sustainable choices that help support the local 
farming economy. The notion of a fourth agricultural revolution that centres 
around the use of technology is also set to open up employment in the industry 
to a wider audience providing skilled opportunities to local people.

Water Resources: The coastal nature of the region means greater vulnerability 
to the effects of climate change. Engagement with communities will be 
particularly important where challenging decisions may be needed around issues 
such as future flood risk and will help to reduce the risk to people in the event 
of extreme events. People will also have an important role to play in changing 
behaviours to reduce water consumption and reuse.

Nature-based Solutions: The Covid-19 pandemic has brought home the 
importance of the natural environment to people more than ever. Access to 
nature supports improved health and wellbeing outcomes and helps connect 
people with their local area as well as providing opportunities for green tourism. 
Ensuring accessible green space is available to everyone will bring wider benefits 
to society while also contributing to Nature Recovery Networks.

Visitor Economy: The potential for a growing tourism sector provides 
opportunity to train and retain a more skilled workforce within the sector 
demonstrating to young people particularly that the industry can provide a 
long-term career choice. Engagement with tourists to better understand their 
needs and expectations will be important to maximise the potential that exists.

Education

Transport: As the largest contributor to carbon emissions in South and 
East Lincolnshire, education will have an important role to play in reducing 
transport emissions. The Covid-19 pandemic has already changed travel habits 
in a way that many perhaps wouldn’t have thought possible previously with 
working from home and remote meetings now commonplace. Education and 
information sharing will be important in enabling people to make greener travel 
choices and in helping businesses to implement new ways of working.

Built Environment: The move away from fossil-fuel heating systems and the 
need to improve the energy efficiency of properties – both at the outset and 
through retrofit – will require a cultural changes in the way we heat and live 
in our homes. Educating residents and businesses about the need to reduce 
operational emissions from the built environment will help demonstrate the 
‘easy wins’ that can be made and ensure people are better informed to make 
sustainable choices in the future. Ensuring local education providers also 
offer opportunities for training a local workforce and supply chain to deliver 
sustainable construction practices will also be vital.

Energy/Renewables: As a growing sector, there are significant opportunities 
within the energy and renewables sector to both upskill and reskill local people. 
Education providers from schools through to colleges and universities will all 
have a role to play in helping people to explore the opportunities and to ensure 
availability of training provision locally to ensure a correctly skilled workforce to 
meet future demands and support the local economy.

Business: Helping SMEs to understand and monitor their carbon footprint and 
identify routes to make their operations greener will be important. The sharing 
of best practice between businesses will be central to helping firms make 

P
age 36



21 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

positive changes and to understand the potential opportunities for inclusive, 
sustainable growth.

Agriculture/Food: Education is two-fold for the farming industry – to support 
improved understanding and embrace change within the sector itself and to 
better inform the wider public around food production enabling them to make 
better choices in line with the climate change agenda. Encouraging farmer-
to-farmer learning together with helping businesses understand what climate 
change means for them will also be beneficial.

Water Resources: Climate change is likely to lead to water shortages across 
our region in years to come and educating people and businesses around the 
need to reduce water usage and seek opportunities to reuse and store water 
will be important. Education will also work closely alongside engagement with 
communities to ensure they are better informed about future risk from flooding 
or drought and to ensure they are prepared for future scenarios.

Nature-based Solutions: Education around the natural environment is 
important to ensure it is valued, not only for the habitat it provides and 
biodiversity it supports, but for the wider benefits it offers to society. Greater 
understanding of how investment in the natural environment can also support 
outcomes such as carbon sequestration, improved health and wellbeing, flood 
prevention and tourism opportunities will help ensure it is given equal weight 
alongside societal and economic considerations.

Visitor Economy: Educating the operators of ‘traditional’ tourism businesses 
to become more sustainable and offer low carbon experiences for visitors will 
be crucial to ensuring the area can maximise the opportunities that climate 
change presents for the tourism economy. Engagement and education of visitors 
to the area around how they support sustainable tourism while in the region 
will also be key to ensuring that an influx of people to the area does not impact 
negatively on carbon emissions.

P
age 37



22 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Strategic Action Plan
This high level Action Plan sets out some of the key areas that this Climate Change Strategy needs to address. A Delivery Plan will be established by SELCAN to set out 
in greater detail how the actions will be achieved and how success will be determined and monitored.

Action Outcome Timeframe
Develop an EV policy for the area based on modelling current and 
predicted future requirements.

An evidenced-based plan to ensure charging infrastructure is rolled 
out in a strategic manner to provide comprehensive coverage.  

2022-23

Explore opportunities to decarbonise public transport through new 
and emerging technology and maximise potential links with walking 
and cycling options

Schemes which seek to enable residents and visitors to make low-
carbon travel choices more easily including through opportunities to 
try alternative technology solutions

Within 5 years

Promote the continuation and expansion of new ways of working 
developed during the Covid-19 pandemic to reduce regular 
commuting and unnecessary travel

A society that harnesses and builds on the gains in travel reduction 
experienced during the Covid-19 pandemic, reducing emissions from 
transport

2022-23

Embed climate change mitigation and adaptation within strategic 
planning policies

Strategic policies that set out effective plans to futureproof 
development across the sub-region

Within 3 years

Encourage and promote efficient use of energy in the home and in 
businesses

Residents and business owners that are better informed with regard 
to Energy Saving Advice and are able to make changes to lower 
energy bills and reduce carbon emissions

2022-23

Foster exemplar approaches to the sustainable design of new 
developments and adaptive technologies

Promote to the wider sector positive examples of futureproofed 
developments to improve sustainability standards across 
developments in the region

Within 5 years

Support residents to access available funding to improve energy 
efficiency and reduce fuel poverty

Opportunities to secure funding for local people are fully explored 
and a coordinated approach to ensuring grants reach the right 
people is implemented

2022-23

Encourage a better understanding of embodied carbon levels within 
new developments and work with the industry to identify low carbon 
alternatives

The industry understands the implications of embodied carbon is 
better informed to ensure new ways of working are explored and 
implemented as part of the net zero transition

Within 5 years

P
age 38



23 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Action Outcome Timeframe
Encourage sustainable procurement practices that support local 
supply chains and foster the building of a circular economy

Reuse is at the heart of procurement decisions across the region 
alongside ensuring the local economy is boosted by supporting local 
businesses and supply chains wherever possible

Within 3 years

Support and advise local businesses on understanding their current 
carbon footprint and identifying routes to decarbonise their 
operations

Businesses that know the impact of their own operations and have a 
plan for how the will reduce carbon emissions over time

2022-23

Promote and foster opportunities for businesses to grow and develop 
within the low carbon and renewables sector

Businesses that are positioned to take advantage of the opportunities 
that are presented to embrace change, deliver new ways of working 
and grow with a changing world rather than being left behind

Within 5 years

Work with education providers across the board to ensure 
opportunities for training and upskilling the local workforce area 
provided

Opportunities for local people to train/retrain are provided locally 
together with support for them to find employment/business 
opportunities within the local area, keeping skills within the local 
economy

Within 5 years

Introduce Carbon Charter Awards Scheme for businesses to 
showcase their climate change credentials 

A system similar to food hygiene status, where customers are able 
to make sustainable choices because businesses are demonstrating 
their credentials openly and recognised for the efforts they make

2023

Promote and support innovation and uptake of new technology in 
the farming sector to enable more sustainable farming practices

No business is left behind in the fourth agricultural revolution and 
farmers feel supported and empowered to embrace new technology 
for the benefit of their business and the wider community

Within 5 years

Education and encourage residents to access affordable, local and 
seasonal food through promoting local supply chains and food 
markets

Consumers are well informed about where their food comes from 
and able to make sustainable choices

Within 3 years

Identify opportunities and support farmers to access mechanisms to 
enable less productive land to be used for environmental schemes 
which also deliver multiple benefits for society.

Farmers feel able to embrace and support land management scheme 
that delivers for both the environment and climate change and for 
the individual farmer and are supported to ensure results

2024-2025

Promote technologies and behaviours that reduce water 
consumption across all domestic and commercial sectors

Water is a valued asset and usage is reduced through the use new 
technology and behavioural change

Within 3 years

Work with developers to reduce water consumption demand in new 
builds and retrofits

Standards are raised across the development sector so that 
consumption is minimised and technologies to enable storage and 
reuse are mainstream

Within 3 years

P
age 39



24 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Action Outcome Timeframe
Support initiatives to improve the management of waterways 
and coastal areas to reduce flood risk and benefit the natural 
environment

Management programmes are designed collaboratively and are 
appropriately informed to provide solutions that ensure operational 
outcomes while also benefitting the wider environment

Within 3 years

Ensure strategic partnership working delivers long-term coastal 
change management and planning, as well as building resilience 
to communities at risk of coastal and riverine flooding through 
adaptation and mitigation

All stakeholders are well engaged through strong approaches 
to partnership working. Clear lines of communication ensure 
that communities feel informed and included as part of future 
management decisions

Within 3 years

Encourage and promote land use change and management decisions 
that help both nature and people build resilience to climate change

New management schemes and practices are designed from the 
outset to deliver a range of other benefits to local communities 
alongside the need to build resilience

Within 3 years

Work in partnership to ensure gains for the natural environment 
are delivered in a strategic manner with long-term plans to ensure 
effective management is maintained

Biodiversity net gain, together with other initiatives to conserve and 
enhance habitats, are informed decisions based on existing data to 
ensure they are both appropriate and effective. Plans for long term 
management are considered and implemented at the outset

2023-2024

Where tree planting is part of the solution, ensure a ‘right tree in the 
right place’ approach is taken

Decisions on tree planting provide enhancements to the natural 
environment and local communities based on strategic decision 
making

2022-2023

Promote an understanding of the economic benefits that a well-
managed natural environment can bring to the S&ELCP area

Natural Capital mapping tools are used to assist decision makers by 
identifying ways in which economic and social activity is dependent 
upon the natural environment

2023-2024

Ensure that South and East Lincolnshire becomes a leader for low 
carbon experiences for visitors and residents, maximising links to the 
environment, heritage and culture

The area becomes recognised for its sustainable tourism credentials 
alongside its more traditional offer

Within 5 years

Undertake an exercise using best available data to predict how 
tourism patterns may change across our area – identifying potential 
pressure points

A better informed tourism industry that is able to plan for and meet 
future demand that may result from changing behaviours within the 
sector

Within 3 years

Produce guidance for visitors to the area around sustainable tourism 
and the role they can play in contributing to the net zero ambition 
while staying in the region

Visitors understand the impact they can have and tourism businesses 
make it easy for them to make sustainable choices while staying in 
the area as part of an enjoyable travel experience

Within 3 years

P
age 40



25 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Delivering this Strategy
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership is well placed to facilitate 
the delivery of this strategy but this can only be achieved with the full support 
of stakeholders from across the public and private sector together with local 
community engagement.

Meeting the net zero ambition of the UK as a whole will require action on 
every level but will only achieve the necessary results through education, 
through sharing knowledge and best practice and ultimately through working in 
partnership.

South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action 
Network (SELCAN)
The key delivery mechanism for taking forward this strategy will be through 
the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network 
(SELCAN). Facilitated by three Councils, SELCAN will bring together private, 
public and community sectors to jointly tackle climate change.

Its remit will be to drive strategic thinking and promote on the ground delivery 
and implementation of projects to reduce emissions across South Holland, 
Boston and East Lindsey and build a more sustainable future.

Representation will be through a number of seats identified for each key sector, 
designed to provide a cross section across the area. SELCAN will meet quarterly 
but may choose to establish small working groups where issues are felt to be 
particularly sector or geographically specific.

SELCAN will be an independent body which owns, monitors and reviews 
progress against the strategy with secretariat provided by South Holland District 
Council, Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council.

Communications
This strategy has been produced by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership but is a strategy for the whole area.

The success of its delivery is dependent on:

• The effectiveness of the leadership and the commitment within the public 
sector and private sector in working towards a net zero future

• Every individual, business and organisation in South Holland, Boston 
and East Lindsey being aware of the challenges ahead and having an 
understanding of the actions that can be taken

• Effective engagement with everyone making effective, lasting, cultural 
changes to play their part in a net zero future

P
age 41



26 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

To this end, communication will be key and the engagement plan sets out the outcomes that need to be achieved:

How will this be achieved? Timescale How will it be monitored?
Ensure every individual, business and organisation is aware of 
the Climate Change Strategy and what it seeks to achieve

Media campaign, public 
consultation, engagement events, 
e-Messenger

Next 12 
months

Engagement with consultation and events

People living and working in South Holland, Boston and East 
Lindsey understand climate change and its potential impacts 
on our area

Media campaigns, engagement 
events, 

1-3 years Climate change questions included in residents 
surveys. Responses can be compared

All sectors are actively participating in SELCAN and working 
to achieve a cultural change towards a sustainable future for 
Boston and East Lindsey

Direct approaches to key sector 
representatives, online presence, 
strong partnership working, 
SELCAN ambassadors

1-3 years Monitored by numbers of stakeholders 
pro-actively participating in SELCAN with 
representation across the identified sectors

Individuals, businesses and organisations understand where 
they can make a difference and are seeking to play their part

Workshops, business networks, 
toolkits for key sectors

1-3 years Feedback from events and workshops  
Number of enquiries received

South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey are recognised as 
exemplars in how everyone is working together to achieve the 
net zero ambitions of the nation

Carbon Charter Awards, media 
campaigns on success stories, 
BEIS statistics

3-5 years Engagement with Awards, publicity achieved, 
reductions in annual BEIS figures for Boston and 
East Lindsey

P
age 42



27 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Glossary
Biodiversity net gain - an approach to development and/or land management, 
that aims to leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than it 
was beforehand.

Carbon budget - the quantity of greenhouse gas emissions that can be emitted 
in total over a specified time by a given entity in line with scientific targets to 
keep within certain temperature increase

Carbon credits - a term used to describe a tradeable certificate or permit giving 
the holder a right to emit a measured amount of greenhouse gas.

Carbon footprint - the total greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the 
activities of individual, event, organisation, service or product expressed as 
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e).

Carbon offsetting - a mechanism used to compensate for greenhouse gas 
emissions made elsewhere through. Usually through a body funding activities or 
projects that improve or enhance the environment or buying carbon credits to 
balance out the emissions from their own operations.

Carbon neutral - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions which allows 
for offsetting through the purchase of high quality, certified carbon credits

Circular economy - an economic system aimed at eliminating waste by keeping 
resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the maximum value from 
them while in use, then recovering and regenerating products and materials at 
the end of their life.

Carbon sequestration - the process of capturing and storing atmospheric 
carbon dioxide

Decentralised energy - projects which generate, use and store energy off the 
main grid including micro-renewables, heating and cooling networks

Ecological networks - the composition of core areas of habitats and corridors 
such as hedgerows or watercourses which enable the free movement of species 
throughout a landscape

Embodied carbon - the total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated to 
produce a built asset. 

Fuel poverty - a situation where a household has fuel costs that are above the 
national average and in spending that amount are left with a residual income 
below the official poverty line.

Greenhouse Gases - gases in the Earth’s atmosphere that trap heat. The main 
greenhouse gases are Carbon Dioxide (CO2), Methane (CH4) and Nitrous Oxide 
(NO2) and are usually expressed in terms of  their Carbon Dioxide equivalent 
value (CO2e)

Local Area Energy Plan - a data driven approach which brings together the 
decarbonisation of heat, transport and power by incorporating in interactions 
and impact on the energy network in a given spatial area

Local Nature Recovery Strategy - spatial strategies which establish priorities 
and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and provide 
wider environmental benefits

Net zero - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions whereby any residual 
emissions that remain these can be offset with certified greenhouse gas removal 
mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon capture technology.

Residual emissions - any emissions which remain after all technically and 
economically feasible opportunities have been implemented

Science-based target - a carbon emissions target which is in line with the scale 
of reductions required to keep global temperature increases below 2°C above 
pre-industrial temperatures.

P
age 43



28 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

Scope 1 emissions - direct emissions from sources directly owned or controlled 
by the reporting body such as fleet vehicles or natural gas consumption

Scope 2 emissions - indirect emissions from the generation of purchased energy 
such as electricity

Scope 3 emissions - indirect emissions that occur in the value chain of an 
organisation, be that upstream or downstream, such as business travel, waste 
disposal or water consumption

Urban cooling - a range of methods used to lower temperatures in built-up area 
and reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect

P
age 44



29 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

P
age 45



30 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY 

FINAL - SPRING 2022

P
age 46



 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 22nd MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT: CARBON REDUCTION ACTION PLAN 

PURPOSE: TO GAIN MEMBER INPUT INTO THE CARBON REDUCTION ACTION 

PLAN PRIOR TO ITS ADOPTION BY CABINET 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENT OFFICER 

HEATHER PRESCOTT 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

In 2021, a Carbon Footprinting exercise was undertaken by the Carbon Trust for the Council’s 

own operations and a Carbon Reduction Plan was developed and agreed by Cabinet in January 

2022.  

Cabinet agreed to amend the previous net zero target to a more quantifiable and ambitious 

target to reduce carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 with a minimum reduction of 45% by 

2027, providing this can be achieved without the reduction or change in quality of services or 

adversely impacting on the revenues budget.  

A Carbon Reduction Action Plan has now been produced to outline the programme of work 

needed to deliver the necessary reductions based on the Carbon Trust’s reports, with a view to 

providing a roadmap for carbon reduction measures and projects in the coming years to assist 

us in meeting our net zero ambition. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Environment and Performance Committee are recommended to: 

1. Provide comment and input into the draft Carbon Reduction Action Plan and 

recommend its adoption to Cabinet in line with the Council’s commitment to reduce its 

Page 47

Agenda Item 2



carbon emissions by 45% by 2027 and to achieve net zero by 2040 in line with the 

Strategic Aim of the Corporate Strategy.   

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To set out a delivery pathway to achieve the Councils net zero Carbon emissions target via a 

pipeline of projects and actions as set out in the Carbon Reduction Action Plan. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Environment & Performance Committee could decide not to adopt the Carbon Reduction Action 

Plan, however Local authorities have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to 

and mitigate climate change in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008.  

The Council has also made a commitment to reduce its carbon emissions to net zero by 2040 

with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027 and this plan provides a roadmap to 

achieving these targets. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 Climate Change is one of the greatest global challenges of our time and local authorities 

have a crucial role to play in driving forward change, leading by example to enable us to 

adapt to and mitigate Climate Change effectively and achieve a more sustainable future. 

Monitoring of our carbon emissions via an annual Carbon Footprint and producing plans 

such as the Carbon Reduction Plan and Carbon Reduction Action Plan will guide us on our 

pathway to meet our target of becoming net zero by 2040. 

1.2 Following on from the recommendations put forward by the Carbon Trust in the adopted 

Carbon Reduction Plan, a Carbon Reduction Action Plan has now been developed to set out 

the projects required to investigate the feasibility of these recommendations further and 

provide clear delivery timescales for the proposed actions. The Action Plan also 

encompasses other environmental initiatives identified by the Climate Change and 

Environment Team and lays out a more detailed pathway to net zero via the development 

of our current position in relation to carbon emissions. This will ensure that the most 

effective and viable pathways forward are taken in relation to our operations.  

1.3 The Carbon Footprint takes account of Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions falling under categories 

for gas, electrical, fleet, waste and business and commuter travel and these categories have 

therefore been used as a framework for the Carbon Reduction Action Plan. Investigative 

and feasibility actions have been highlighted in grey with actions dependant on the 

outcome of these investigations highlighted in light grey for ease of visualisation.    

1.4 It is not currently possible, at this time, to provide costs or projected carbon savings for 

some of the projects identified in the Carbon Reduction Action Plan. These details will be 

identified during the progression of the projects and where significant financial decisions 

will be required these proposals will be brought to Members for approval as appropriate.     

 

Page 48



2. REPORT 

 Fleet 

2.1 A free Government-funded fleet review is due to be undertaken by the Energy Saving Trust 

towards the end of the financial year. This will provide very valuable insights which will 

inform our future actions in relation to fleet and identify sites with the best potential for 

accommodating EV charging infrastructure. The actions currently identified in the Carbon 

Reduction Action Plan will be subject to change dependant on the outcome of this review. 

2.2 In relation to Fleet, the Carbon Reduction Plan recommends an initial trial and later rollout 

of Compressed Natural Gas vehicles followed by a trial and roll out of electric Refuse 

Collection Vehicles once supply chains have become more established, technology is more 

reliable and capital costs reduce.  

2.3 The outcome of the EST Fleet Review will inform whether the currently proposed 

recommendations are taken forward or other alternatives are deemed more suitable for 

our consideration. Technological advancements are being made all the time and it is 

therefore crucial that we are at the forefront of identifying and assessing the viability of 

new ways of working.  

 Travel 

2.4 Achieving our net zero targets will not only be dependant on the recommended actions in 

this Action Plan but also on harnessing and maintaining reductions in carbon emissions 

caused by the impact of COVID19, this is particularly the case in relation to business and 

commuter travel.  

2.5 Training and Communications actions listed in the Action Plan will seek to encourage staff 

to reduce travel and to car share as much as possible in line with this approach. This will 

also assist us in maintaining reductions as working patterns begin to be re-established.  

 Operational Buildings 

2.6 We are looking to develop Decarbonisation Strategies for all the main operational buildings 

identified in the Carbon Reduction Action Plan and these strategies will inform the future 

actions we take forward in relation to those premises. Funding and support options in 

relation to the development of these plans are currently being investigated and will be 

sought to finance this work.  

 Municipal Buildings 

2.7 Opportunities have been identified at the Municipal Buildings to upgrade fabric, HVAC and 

heating systems and install renewable energy measures in the short term, however there 

are challenges associated with these proposed upgrades. In the medium term, Building 

Management System upgrades and development of a solar car port are recommended. The 

payback timescales will be an important consideration at this site due to the long term 

recommendation to relocate to a more energy efficient building, which would allow for a 

more significant reduction to emissions. 

 Crematorium 

2.8 Potential fabric, glazing upgrades and solar opportunities at the Crematorium site have 

been identified in the short term. In the medium term it is recommended that a biogas 

Page 49



blend be considered to fuel the furnace and a move away from gas entirely to be 

considered in the longer term. It is important to note that as the electrical grid 

decarbonises, resultant emissions from electricity consumption will decrease whereas 

emissions from gas consumption are expected to remain constant.   

 Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre 

2.9 As a result of funding via the Towns Fund there are plans for future relocation of Geoff 

Moulder Leisure Centre to a new electrically fuelled site with state-of-the-art facilities that 

should reduce emissions considerably.    

3. CONCLUSION 

3.1 The Carbon Footprint for FY 2020/21 has shown significant strides towards our targets for 

reducing carbon emissions, however, it will continue to be extremely important that we 

harness the impact of COVID-19. It will be particularly important that newly established 

ways of working are maintained, particularly in relation to travel. It will also be vital that we 

embrace new green technologies as they become available and viable and identify new 

ways to reduce our emissions further over the coming years.  

3.2 The Carbon Reduction Action Plan will guide us our pathway to net zero via a rollout of 

projects particularly focused over the next five years as we work towards the interim target 

of 2027, however, it is important to note that the Action Plan is based on the best options 

currently available to us and may be subject to change dependant on the outcomes of 

further feasibility assessment and technological advancements.  

3.3 Decarbonisation strategies will be developed for all operational Council buildings which will 

inform the actions we take forward in relation to those premises and will potentially lead to 

some amendments in the Action Plan.  

3.4 Funding will be sought for the development of these strategy documents and any resulting 

amendments to the Action Plan proposed will be brought to Members for approval as 

appropriate.     

 

4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 This plan provides a baseline and models a target pathway of recommendations and actions 
to enable achievement of our net zero aspirations.   

 
5. IMPLICATIONS 

6. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

6.1 Our ambition seeks to align activity and action across the three sovereign councils to deliver 

financial benefits and shared learning for the benefit of the Partnership. 

 

7. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

7.1 The Carbon Reduction Action Plan will support us in achieving Priority 3 of the Corporate 

Strategy. 

8. STAFFING 

8.1 None. Page 50



9. CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 Local authorities have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and 

mitigate climate change in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008 and 

failure to do so could result in a legal challenge being made. 

10. DATA PROTECTION 

10.1 None. 

11. FINANCIAL 

11.1 Recommendations identified in the Carbon Reduction Plan will require funding. External 
funding opportunities will be sought whilst ensuring that future expenditure within existing 
Council budgets seeks to include carbon savings as part of the procurement and delivery of 
services. 

 
11.2 The Council may seek to implement an invest to save fund for Carbon Reduction which can 

be used to support initiatives as well as provide match funding for external bids. 
 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT 

12.1 None.  

13. STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

13.1 Consultation with Key Officers and portfolio holder have been undertaken.  

14. REPUTATION 

14.1 Having an effective Carbon Reduction Action Plan highlighting a pathway of actions to 

reduce our carbon emissions shows our commitment to meeting our net zero targets and 

enhances our reputation as a community leader, setting a positive example for others to 

follow. 

15. CONTRACTS 

15.1 None.  

16. CRIME AND DISORDER 

16.1 None.  

17. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

17.1 None.   

18. HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

18.1 The Carbon Reduction Action Plan has the potential to not only reduce carbon emissions 

but also to deliver positive outcomes for the natural environment and the health and 

wellbeing of our communities. 

19. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

19.1 Commitment to achieving our net zero target will be crucial alongside the work of all other 

authorities, businesses and individuals in the global battle to reduce our carbon emissions 

and limit climate change to temperature increases of well below 2 ͦC in line with the Paris 

Page 51



Agreement. Failure to do so would be catastrophic to the environment with extreme 

weather events expected to become more frequent and severe. Rising sea levels would also 

potentially create the need for mass migration inland and huge losses to biodiversity could 

lead to water and food shortages amongst many other negative impacts on life as we know 

it.  

19.2 It is a global problem of which we can only make a small contribution, but we must seek to 

reduce our operational footprint as far as possible. 

20. ACRONYMS 

20.1 None. 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Carbon Reduction Plan  

APPENDIX B Carbon Reduction Action Plan  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Corporate Strategy Our Plan for Your Future | Boston Borough Council 

(mybostonuk.com)  

Environment Policy https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-

protection-and-services/climate/  

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Heather Prescott  

Climate Change and Environment Officer 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Assistant Director Regulatory 

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner 

 

  

Page 52

https://www.mybostonuk.com/our-plan-for-your-future/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/our-plan-for-your-future/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-protection-and-services/climate/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-protection-and-services/climate/


FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Carbon 
Reduction Plan

November 2021

Final

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

P
age 55



Contacts

2

Hector Wilson
Associate
Carbon Trust
Hector.Wilson@carbontrust.com

Hannah Cardiff
Analyst
Carbon Trust
Hannah.Cardiff@carbontrust.com

Sarah Baker
Climate Change and Environment Manager
Boston Borough Council
Sarah.Baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk

Heather Prescott
Climate Change and Environment Officer
Boston Borough Council
Heather.Prescott@e-lindsey.gov.uk

P
age 56



1. Executive summary

2. Context and introduction

3. Carbon footprint

4. Target setting

5. Carbon reduction commitments

6. Carbon reduction opportunities

Contents

7. Governance and engagement

8. Monitoring and reporting

9. Appendices

P
age 57



Executive summary

4

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 58



Executive summary

5

• This Carbon Reduction Plan is a key step in Boston
Borough Council’s (BBC) response to the climate crisis
and sets out a number of strategic actions that BBC
should work to implement to achieve their carbon
reduction target.

• This carbon reduction plan suggests a number of
projects that, alongside the decarbonisation of the UK
electricity grid, will contribute to the Council reducing
their carbon emissions.

• Emissions included within the carbon footprint and
targeted projects:

Scope 1 • Fleet fuel consumption • Gas consumption in 
the crematorium

Scope 2 • Electricity consumption in Municipal 
Buildings

• Electricity 
consumption in 
council operated 
buildings

Scope 3 • Employee commuting and business 
travel

P
age 59



Executive summary

6

• BBC’s carbon footprint for the financial year
2018/19 was calculated to be 3,858.6 tCO2e.
The footprint consists of 9 emissions
categories.

• Leased buildings make up the largest single
emissions source, representing 45% (1,739.9
tCO2e) of the total footprint.

• Operation of buildings and facilities by the
council is an emissions hotspot. Emissions
from electricity, gas and other fuel
consumption make up 27% of the total
footprint (1,050.1 tCO2e).

• Operation of the council’s fleet is also a major
contributor to the footprint, accounting for 15%
(558.4 tCO2e) of the total footprint.

• Emissions from supply of water, treatment of
wastewater, employee commuting and
business travel are only a small part of the
footprint – approximately 5% (187.0 tCO2e).

Carbon footprint summary

Scope 1
34%

Scope 2
8%

Scope 3
58%

FY18/19
3,858.6 tCO2e

361.8 850.1 23.6 690.1 37.9 9.2 1739.9 125.4 13.4
0

400

800

1200

1600

2000

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3

P
age 60



Carbon reduction opportunities overview

7

• The following carbon reduction opportunities have been identified across Boston Borough Council’s operations, with relevant project
opportunities identified for each of the emissions areas detailed below. These projects will assist BBC on the pathway towards achieving its
carbon reduction targets.

• The projects identified in this plan have the potential to reduce Boston Borough Council’s total emissions from 3,859tCO2e tCO2e/yr to just
2,423tCO2e/year by 2050.

• The total estimated cost to implement the above projects is approximately £7.1mn not including any costs associated with large scale
construction or property rationalisation. The project proposals in this plan have been based on high level and remotely accessed information and
benchmarks. All projects will require full feasibility assessments to be undertaken to establish a detailed cost-benefit analysis.

Municipal Buildings

Upgrade fabric and 
heating systems. 
Install renewable 
energy measures.

Public Toilets

Install energy 
efficiency measures 
to reduce electricity 
consumption.

Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex

Relocate to new 
energy efficient site.

Crematorium

Install energy 
efficiency and 
renewable energy 
measures.

Fleet

Electrify vans in fleet. 
Trial and roll out 
electric RCVs.

Business Travel and Commuting

Encourage low 
carbon transport 
modes and mileage 
management.

P
age 61



Overview of Carbon Reduction Pathway

8

• 22 carbon reduction projects were 
modelled. The graph on the right shows 
the change in emissions with time. This 
only shows the scope 1 and scope 2 
emission sources which have been the 
focus of the carbon reduction 
opportunity analysis.

• Projects considered cover fabric, 
lighting, and heating and HVAC 
upgrades, as well as electrification of 
fleet vehicles and the installation of 
solar PV.

• If all projects outlined are implemented
then it can be expected that scope 1 and 
2 emissions could decrease by 74% by 
2030 and 87% by 2040 from a FY 
2018/19 baseline. This is equal to 1,013 
and 1,380 tCO2e respectively.

• It is expected that the total capital cost 
of all projects will equal approximately 
£7.1million.

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas Fleet

-87%

P
age 62



Target

9

• Boston Borough Council has agreed to set a Net Zero 
2040 target. This is an ambitious target which is in 
keeping with the latest climate science.

• BBC has committed to reduce its emissions to Net Zero 
by 2040, with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 
2027 against a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• This would require year-on-year reduction of 4.55% each 
year. Annual reduction targets will be 5% to 2027 and 
4.23% from 2027 – 2040.

• The graph shows the pathway if all projects suggested in 
this report are implemented and the target line. If all 
projects are implemented in the order suggested here, 
BBC will have a gap-to-target across all emission scopes 
of 1,215tCO2e in 2027 and 2,478 tCO2e in 2040.

• When considering scope 1 and 2 emissions only, the gap 
to target in 2027 and 2040 are 197tCO2e and 215tCO2e 
respectively once projects have been implemented.

Net Zero 2040, with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Projects implemented Target

P
age 63



Next steps

10

• Building on the analysis and project suggestions in this carbon reduction plan, BBC should now conduct further, more 
detailed feasibility assessments of individual project opportunities. This will ensure the Council is able to quantify 
costs and savings fully and be more confident in taking forward provisional project opportunities identified here.

• Considering the current emissions hotspots – operational buildings and facilities, and fleet – BBC should prioritise 
and coordinate efforts to reduce emissions in the first instance, using the contents of this Carbon Reduction Plan in 
the process.

• BBC should use the initial quantifications provided (energy, carbon and cost-saving potential) as a building block for 
the development of further detailed business cases going forward. The information shown in this plan, along with an 
explanation of the limitations, should be clearly communicated to stakeholders and shared with key decision makers 
across the organisation.

• Establishing an immediate action plan to build on the findings of this Carbon Reduction Plan will help to ensure 
carbon reduction remains a key part of the Council’s agenda going forward, allowing the necessary budgets and 
organisational/governance structures to be developed accordingly to support decarbonisation.

10

P
age 64



Context and 
introduction

11

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 65



Context

12

• Growing acknowledgement of the latest science and recommendations from the Committee on Climate Change have resulted in
unprecedented recognition of the global climate emergency and the need to act urgently. According to the IPCC’s Fifth
Assessment Report, unless there are immediate, rapid and large-scale reductions in emissions, limiting warming to close to 1.5
°C or even 2 °C will be beyond reach.

• The UK is already experiencing some of the effects of warming, such as sea level rise, increased flooding, warmer and wetter
winters, increased extreme weather events and storms. Continued warming is projected to magnify these impacts, and risks
relating to soil health, supply chains, public health and habitats will be exacerbated.

• The UK has recognised the scale of the problem and in 2019 declared a climate emergency, aiming to achieve Net Zero
emissions by 2050. Local authorities have also recognised the issue, with 230 declaring a climate emergency. Local authorities
have a crucial role to play in developing effective pathways towards reducing their emissions, which, if successfully achieved, will
help to reduce climate impacts at both the local and national scale as well as delivering public health co-benefits resulting from
cleaner air and leading more active lifestyles.

• Boston Borough Council declared a climate emergency in 2020 and environmental awareness and accountability are identified
as a priority in the Corporate Strategy. BBC is committed to addressing the impact of its operations and as part of this
commitment has agreed to produce a new Carbon Reduction Plan. The Carbon Reduction Plan will serve to engage and inform
key stakeholders on the level of ambition required to pursue decarbonisation across Boston Borough Council’s operations and
support future decision-making.

12

P
age 66



Introduction

13

• In the first stage of the project, the Carbon Trust calculated a carbon footprint for BBC. The footprint included scope 1, scope 2 
and selected scope 3 emissions. The footprint was calculated for three consecutive years: FY 18/19, FY 19/20 and FY 20/21. A 
footprint report was produced which provided an overview of the carbon footprint, methodology and GHG Protocol, as well as 
highlighting key emissions hotspots within the organisation. 

• Following this, a workshop was held with key stakeholders from the Council to present key findings from the carbon footprint 
calculation. A Business as Usual (BAU) emissions pathway was presented which captured overarching effects on emissions, 
such as grid decarbonisation. Options for carbon reduction targets were presented and compared to other local authorities in the
area. In this workshop, initial opportunities for carbon reduction projects within the Council’s operations were discussed and 
identified.

• Key personnel identified from the workshop were interviewed to gather more information and understand the potential for 
emissions reduction projects across the Council. The information provided supported analysis of carbon reduction pathways for
BBC.

• This report forms a Carbon Reduction Plan. It includes a summary of the baseline carbon footprint calculation, information 
surrounding target setting and analysis of projects which should be implemented to drive carbon reduction across BBC. These 
projects have been quantified and present a gap-to-target. BBC should take the findings of this report forwards to inform a more
detailed decarbonisation action plan. 

Project overview

P
age 67



Carbon footprint

14

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 68



Carbon footprint overview

15

The Carbon Trust has calculated BBC’s carbon footprint in accordance 
with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol – the most widely used and 
accepted methodology for GHG accounting.

The organisational boundary also helps to determine how to categorise 
each emissions source within the boundary.

Under the GHG Protocol, emissions are categorised into 3 scopes:

• Scope 1: Emissions directly emitted by the organization (i.e. gas 
burnt in a gas boiler, tail pipe emissions from a vehicle).

• Scope 2: Emissions indirectly emitted from the consumption of 
purchased electricity, heat or steam.

• Scope 3: All other indirect emissions, such as the extraction and 
production of purchased materials and fuels, transport-related 
activities in vehicles not owned or controlled by the reporting entity, 
water consumption, waste disposal, etc.

This section provides an inventory of BBC’s greenhouse gas emissions in the financial year 2018/19 – the 
‘baseline’ against which future progress will be evaluated

Above: Emission scopes, as defined by the GHG Protocol.

P
age 69



Carbon footprint methodology

16

Carbon emissions are calculated by taking activity data (e.g. kWh electricity consumed, litres of fuel) and applying an emissions 
factor.

• Where possible, primary activity data should be be collected throughout the reporting period for the carbon footprint calculation.

• Emission factors are updated annually and published by the UK Government’s department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS).

• Where primary activity data is not available, appropriate benchmarks or proxies can be used to estimate emissions from that 
source. For example, typical electricity consumption per m2 of a building. 

kWh 
(utilities)

miles or km 
(transport)

£ (contract 
value)

BEIS factor 
(kgCO2e/unit)

Emission  
(tCO2e)Activity data

Emissions 
factor

proxy factor 
(kgCO2e/unit 

spend)

What is a carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e)?
CO2 is one of 7 GHGs covered by the Kyoto Protocol. 
Each gas has a global warming potential (GWP). By 

comparing each gas’s GWP to that of carbon dioxide 
we can derive a CO2 e value - the commonly used unit to 

report GHG emissions.
Although CO2 has the lowest GWP, it is also by far the 

most abundant GHG emission. Hence the focus on CO2
when discussing emissions reduction and climate 

change.

P
age 70



Emissions sources included

17

Scope 1
Direct Owned 

transport
Fuel 

combustion

Process and 
fugitive 

emissions

Scope 2
Indirect Purchased 

electricity

Purchased 
heating / 
cooling

Scope 3
Indirect

Purchased 
goods & 
services

Capital goods

Business 
travel

Fuel & energy 
related 

activities

Waste from 
operations

Upstream 
transport & 
distribution

Employee 
commuting

Upstream 
leased assets

Downstream 
leased assets

Investments Use of sold 
products

Franchises
Downstream 
transport & 
distribution

Processing of 
sold products

End of life 
treatment

Upstream Downstream

Emissions sources to be calculated within the chosen 
boundary of this assessment were agreed with BBC, 
and include relevant Scope 1 and 2 emissions and 
selected Scope 3 emissions. Relevance of each 
emissions source was determined using a qualitative 
assessment of a) perceived magnitude, b) data 
availability, and c) sphere of influence, alongside 
ability to achieve reductions through direct action. 

P
age 71



Boston Borough Council Footprint FY18/19

18

• The total footprint for BBC in FY 18/19 was 3,858.6 tCO2e.

• Over one third of emissions, 34% (1,318.2 tCO2e) were scope 1. These are operational emissions as a direct result of the 
combustion of fossil fuels within council buildings and fleet. 

• Only 8% (290.3 tCO2e) were scope 2. These are emissions that arise from operational electricity consumption. 

• Over half of emissions, 58% (2,250.1 tCO2e) arise from scope 3. The majority of these are attributed to emissions from energy 
consumption in leased buildings and WTT and T&D associated with scope 1 and scope 2 emissions.

Natural Gas 
Consumption

46%

Fleet
35%

Other Fuel 
Consumption

1%

Electricity 
Consumption

18%

Waste
<1%

Water
1% Commuting

6%

Business Travel -
Transport

2%

Leased Buildings
77%

WTT and T&D
14%

Scope 3
2,250.1 tCO2e

Scope 1 and 2
1,608.5 tCO2e

P
age 72



Hotspot – Operational buildings and facilities

19

• The chart (right) provides site level view of operational emissions (Gas
and Electricity) for FY 18/19.

• Operational emissions from all sites make up 27% (1050.1 tCO2e) of
the total footprint.1

• Emissions are dominated by the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex and
the Crematorium. These two sites account for 73% of all operational
emissions.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural gas, for space
and water heating functions. These emissions will not decrease with
time in line with UK grid decarbonisation. Reducing these emissions will
require energy efficiency measures and switching heating modes, e.g.
air source heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption and costs
associated with Scope 2 emissions will increase over time. Due to the
rate of grid decarbonisation it is unlikely that scope 2 emissions
themselves will increase. Measures should therefore also be taken to
reduce electricity consumption across all operational sites.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC operated buildings and facilities

1 WTT and T&D is excluded from these numbers. It was found to be 182.4 tCO2e for 
operational emissions.

*Other contains temporary accommodation sites, leisure 
sites, power supply, depot and public toilets.

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Head Office Guildhall
Museum

Geoff Moulder
Leisure

Complex

Crematorium Other*

Scope 2 (Electricity) Scope 1 (Gas)

P
age 73



Hotspot – Fleet

20

• The BBC fleet contained 41 vehicles in FY 18/19. 35 of these were diesel fuelled maintenance vehicles, 1 diesel car and 5 pool
cars, assigned petrol fuel type. Maintenance vehicles include road sweepers, vans, refuse disposal vehicles and tractors.

• Emissions from fleet contributed 558.4 tCO2e*, equivalent to 15% to the total carbon footprint.

• Fuel consumption figures were provided by BBC. The total estimated fuel consumption for FY18/19 was 213,045 litres.

Emissions from fuel consumed in vehicles owned and operated by the council

Road Sweeper
5% Van

12%

Tractor
1%

Refuse Disposal
81%

Diesel Car
<1%

Pool Car
1%

FY18/19
558.4 tCO2e

*Figures excluding well-to-tank, WTT. An additional 131.7 tCO2e was associated with Scope 3 WTT emissions from fleet fuel consumption

P
age 74



Hotspot – Leased buildings

21

• Emissions from leased buildings were found to be 1,739.9 tCO2e, 45% of
the carbon footprint.

• 19.4 tCO2e is from consumption of biomass at the Princess Royal Sports
Arena and the Enterprise Centre.

• Where actual consumption data was not available, emissions were
estimated from the floor area and building type.

• The chart (right) provides a building category view of estimated electricity
and gas consumption FY 18/19.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural gas, for space and
water heating functions. These emissions will not decrease with time in
line with UK grid decarbonisation. Reducing these emissions will require
energy efficiency measures and switching heating modes, e.g. air source
heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption and costs
associated with Scope 2 emissions will increase over time. Due to the rate
of grid decarbonisation it is unlikely that scope 2 emissions themselves
will increase therefore measures should also be taken to reduce electricity
consumption across all operational sites.

• Leased building emissions are scope 3 and therefore BBC does not have
direct control over them. It is important that BBC influence and engage
with building occupants to adopt energy efficiency and fuel switching
measures.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC leased buildings

0

200000

400000

600000

800000

1000000

1200000

1400000

1600000

Total Electricity Consumption Total Gas Consumption

P
age 75



Other emissions sources

22

Scope Emissions Source Total emissions (tCO2e) Percentage of total (%)

1

Natural Gas Consumption 746.4 19%

Fleet 558.4 14%

Other Fuel Consumption 13.4 0.3%

2 Electricity Consumption 290.3 8%

3

Waste 9.2 0.2%

Water 23.6 0.6%

Commuting 125.4 3%

Business Travel - Transport 37.9 1%

Leased Buildings 1,739.9 45%

WTT and T&D 314.1 8%

Total 3,858.6 100.0%

• Other emissions sources (Waste output and processing, Water consumption, Employee commuting, Business travel (transport),
and WTT and T&D) made up around 14% of the footprint in FY 18/19.

• Although these emissions categories contribute less to the carbon footprint, reduction efforts should still be made via initiatives
such as increased recycling, installation of water saving measures, and encouragement of active and public transport use.

P
age 76



Target setting

23

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 77



Target setting

24

• Science-based target (SBT): Aligned to the 2015 Paris 
Agreement, targets are considered “science-based” if they 
reach the level of decarbonisation required to keep global 
temperature increase below 1.5°C. This target requires a 4.2% 
year on year reduction in emissions from the baseline.

• Net Zero target: A Net Zero organisation will set and pursue 
an ambitious 1.5°C aligned science-based target for its full 
value-chain emissions. Any remaining hard-to-decarbonise 
emissions can be compensated using certified greenhouse 
gas removal.

• Examples of both targets are illustrated in the graph to the 
right.

• In their Net Zero Strategy (2021), the UK government has 
committed to half direct emissions from the public sector by 
2032 (compared to 2017 levels) and aims to further reduce 
emissions from public sector buildings by 75% by 2037. They 
have also set a Net Zero 2050 target for the UK.

Setting ambitious emissions reduction targets drives momentum for change, can spark innovation and investment, 
and ensures reductions meet national commitments.

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

BAU Net Zero 2050 SBT 1.5 degrees

P
age 78



Target setting

25

• North Kesteven – Net zero by 2030; measured 
against a 2018/19 baseline.

• Lincoln City – Net zero by 2030; measured 
against a 2018/19 baseline.

• East Lindsey – 45% reduction in emissions by 
2027 and net zero by 2040; against a 2018/19 
baseline.

• Lincolnshire County – 20% reduction by 2023 
and then carbon neutral by 2050; measured 
against a 2016/17 baseline.

• South Kesteven – 30% reduction by 2030 and 
net zero before 2050; measured against a 
2018/19 baseline.

• West Lindsey – Net zero by 2050; against a 
2019/20 baseline.

Neighbouring targets and ambitions

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

South Kesteven West Lindsey East Lindsey
Lincolnshire Lincoln North Kesteven

P
age 79



Target setting

26

• Boston Borough Council has agreed to set a Net Zero 2040 target. 
This is an ambitious target which is in keeping with the latest 
climate science.

• BBC has committed to reduce its emissions to Net Zero by 2040, 
with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027 against a FY 
2018/19 baseline.

• This would require year-on-year reduction of 4.55% each year. 
Annual reduction targets will be 5% to 2027 and 4.23% from 2027 –
2040.

• Committee support is agreed provided the recommendations can be 
actioned without any reduction in the quality of services provided, 
the recommendations do not impact on the revenue budgets, nor do 
they impact on services.

• The graph shows the pathway if all projects suggested in this report 
are implemented and the target line. If all projects are implemented 
in the order suggested here, BBC will have a gap-to-target across all 
emission scopes of 1,215tCO2e in 2027 and 2,478 tCO2e in 2040.

• When considering scope 1 and 2 emissions only, the gap to target in 
2027 and 2040 are 197tCO2e and 215tCO2e respectively once 
projects have been implemented.

Net Zero 2040, with a minimum emissions reduction of 45% by 2027

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Projects implemented Target

P
age 80



Carbon reduction 
commitments

27

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 81



Carbon reduction commitments

28

• In order to support Boston Borough Council’s carbon reduction target it is important to state how the Council aims to 
achieve these.

• The subsequent section outlines direct actions that could be implemented in order to reduce carbon emissions. 
Alongside the actions, the Council should also outline the steps required within the wider strategy that are needed in 
order to decarbonise.

• This section of the report therefore outlines a series of commitments that the Council should aim to align with going 
forward that will focus decarbonisation activities and also provide a layer of accountability.

• The commitments have been developed based on UK Government ambitions, suggestions outlined within the 
committee on climate change’s update reports, and Carbon Trust’s own extensive knowledge of developing 
decarbonisation strategies and providing assistance to UK public sector bodies.

• It is suggested that the Council review these commitments and ensure they align with both their ambition and 
expectations. Going forward the commitments should be seen as steps to follow and a benchmark to report progress 
against.

• The commitments have been organised in four yearly intervals, to ensure regular action is taken, and enough time is 
given to move from commitment, to plan, to action.

P
age 82



Carbon reduction commitments

29

• Carbon reduction to be a high priority in business case decisions
• Carbon footprint to be calculated every year

o This should be expanded from the current baseline footprint to include all emission sources
• Any new builds or major developments will be designed and accredited to a net zero framework
• Energy audits of all council owned buildings will have been undertaken

o This will highlight carbon hotspots and detailed pipeline of costed projects to be implemented
• Waste heat strategy for the crematorium will be in place
• All lighting across council owned buildings will be LED
• Understanding of total renewable energy potential from solar PV will be known

o Feasibility studies of all council owned buildings, roof space, car parks and land assets should be carried out and 
summarised within a renewable strategy

• Engage with key suppliers to communicate importance of emissions reduction in procurement decisions
• Install water saving accessories across all operational facilities
• Waste tonnage and type data will be collected 

By 2024

P
age 83



Carbon reduction commitments

30

• Boston Borough Council will have reduced carbon emissions in line with target
• Low carbon heat plans will be in place

o An understanding of future heating options for all council owned buildings should be in place, including heat 
pumps, hydrogen, or other low carbon fuels

• All cars and LGVs will be battery electric where practically possible
• Charging infrastructure at main council buildings will have been installed
• Trial of CNG HGV will have been undertaken
• All buildings will have up-to-date, standardised, and effective building management systems (BMS)
• Boston Borough Council will have 50% of renewable energy potential installed

o Developed in line with the renewables strategy
• Supplier commitment to reducing emissions will be mandated within procurement contracts for major suppliers

By 2028

P
age 84



Carbon reduction commitments

31

• Boston Borough Council will have reduced carbon emissions in line with target
• Every building will have undergone a full energy efficient upgrade

o Including installation of low carbon heating options identified within the heating strategy
• Boston Borough Council will have 100% of renewable energy potential installed

o In line with the renewables strategy

• All HGVs, including waste refuse vehicles will be zero emission vehicles

• The crematorium will no longer use gas-fired furnaces in its operations

By 2032

By 2040

By 2036

P
age 85



Carbon reduction 
opportunities

32

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 86



Carbon reduction opportunities

33

• This section of the project has developed and quantified a list of carbon reduction opportunities that could be 
implemented by Boston Borough Council.

• The opportunities identified have been guided by the analysis of the carbon footprint hotspots, in order to make sure 
that projects with the greatest carbon saving potential are suggested.

• Furthermore, individual discussions with particular areas of the council have been carried out to ensure the projects 
suggested are ambitious, relevant, and realistic.

• The projects identified are relevant only to scope 1 and 2 emissions. This has been done to ensure there is a focus on 
emission sources that the council have a direct influence over and therefore are easiest to impact on.
• The largest scope 3 emission source is from leased buildings, it is therefore suggested that a strategy for 

decarbonising leased buildings is developed.
• The following pages outline the main focus areas for the carbon reduction opportunities as well as the quantified data 

of energy and carbon savings, potential capital cost, simple payback period and suggested year to implement.
• All opportunities identified should undergo a feasibility and technical assessment before implementation.

P
age 87



Summary of carbon reduction opportunities

34

• A total of 22 projects have been outlined across the Municipal Buildings, crematorium, Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex (GMLC), 
public toilets, Guildhall and fleet.

• These projects show a potential to reduce scope 1 and 2 emissions by 74% by 2030 and 87% by 2040 from a FY 2018/19 
baseline. 

• It is expected that the total capital cost of all projects will equal approximately £7.1million.

Short term (2021 – 2025)

Upgrade fabric, lighting, HVAC and heating system in the
Municipal Buildings, install LED lighting and lighting
controls in public toilets, upgrade building fabric in
crematorium and chapel, electrify fleet vans and trial CNG
RCVs.

Medium and longer term recommendations
are inherently subject to greater degrees of
uncertainty. These actions are made based
on the current state-of-play and should be
reviewed and updated as part of annual
reporting and governance. It is anticipated
that technology advancements, cost
reductions and policy support will create a
more favourable environment for action in the
medium/longer term and BBC should remain
agile and actively engaged with the market to
take advantage of favourable developments.

Mid term (2025 – 2030)

Municipal Buildings: BMS is upgraded, solar carport is
constructed in parking area to supplement electricity
consumption.

GMLC redevelopment is completed.

Crematorium and chapel: Solar PV is installed on the roof
of the chapel and a biogas blend is used to fuel the furnace
in the crematorium.

CNG RCVs are rolled-out across the fleet.

Long term (2030 – onwards) BBC move to new, energy efficient municipal building, novel
cremation technologies are in use at the crematorium,
electric RCVs are trialled and rolled-out.

P
age 88



UK electricity grid decarbonisation

35

• As the UK switches more of its energy production to renewable 
sources, less carbon dioxide will be produced by the generation of 
electricity. This means over time the grid electricity that is used by 
consumers will become less carbon intensive. 

• Between 2010 and 2020 the carbon intensity of grid electricity has 
decreased by over 50%. This has largely been driven by coal fired 
power plants being taken off-line and the large-scale rollout of 
offshore wind farms.

• The projections of the grid intensity in the future are produced by 
BEIS1. It is expected that the carbon intensity of grid electricity will be 
just 4% of 2010’s values.

• Other projections produced by national grid even have the carbon 
intensity becoming negative under certain scenarios – namely 
through the roll out of bioenergy carbon capture and storage.

• The emissions intensity of electricity is set to hit parity with the 
emissions intensity of natural gas in the immediate future and will 
thereon continue to reduce. This “greening of the grid” makes 
electrification of transport and heating an attractive option from a 
carbon reduction perspective and electrification should be a priority.

• The carbon savings potential of projects outlined in this report are 
reported in terms of savings today and savings in recommended 
implementation year. For projects which reduce electricity 
consumption, i.e energy efficiency projects, carbon savings potential 
will be lower if implemented in the future when the grid intensity is 
lower. 

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

0.40

0.50

0.60

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

Electricity Electricity projection Gas Gas projection

1 BEIS Green Book

P
age 89



Emission savings from electricity over time

36

• As a result of the decarbonisation of the UK electricity grid, the consumption of electricity will be less carbon intensive 
in the future compared to the baseline year.

• This means that the total reduction in emissions between the baseline year and the target year will be greater than the 
sum of all emission savings from just looking at the projects implemented; as there will be carbon reductions from 
projects plus the natural reduction from grid decarbonisation.

• When quantifying the carbon reduction potential of projects linked to the consumption of electricity, the year in which 
the project is implemented is very important:
• An energy efficiency project, ie. one that results in reduced consumption (such as installing LED lighting), will 

result in the same energy saving regardless of the year of installation. However, the carbon savings will be greater 
in the near term while the grid is still relatively carbon intensive.

• A fuel switching project, one that results in moving from a fossil fuel to electricity (such as fleet electrification), 
will result in greater carbon savings in the future compared to the present day – this is because the difference in 
emission factors between a fossil fuel and electricity will only increase as the grid decarbonises, meaning the 
carbon savings will be greater.

• The projects outlined in the following pages quote both the carbon savings that would be achieved in the baseline 
year and in the year of implementation. The baseline year carbon saving allows a like for like comparison of the 
carbon reduction potential of a project, whereas the savings quoted for the year of implementation are the likely 
estimated savings that will be achieved.

P
age 90



Municipal Buildings carbon reduction opportunities

37

• BBC operates its head office in the Municipal Buildings. A proportion of the 
building is rented to tenants who are charged service fees for consumption of 
electricity and natural gas. The Municipal Buildings are split into three distinct 
sites, which vary in age and fabric standard. The original building is a 1908, solid 
brick construction, with little to no existing insulation or glazing. A second 
building is also solid brick, with no insulation, but does have some glazing 
measures in place. Finally, the new structure has some insulation and glazing 
installed and is built to a higher specification.

• The Municipal Buildings make up 17% of all operational emissions. 62% of 
emissions from the Municipal Buildings arise from electricity consumption and 
38% from fuel used in building energy.

• It is expected the Council will remain in the Municipal Buildings in the mid-term (5 
– 10 years), however, are open to the possibility of moving premises due to the 
challenges associated with upgrading the fabric and heating systems at the site. 
Projects with a payback period within this lifetime should be prioritised. This will 
increase the value of the building if the decision is made to move.

• The projects recommended which directly impact the building are related to 
fabric, lighting, HVAC, BMS and heating system upgrades. Construction of a solar 
carport in the car parking area has also been recommended as a way to generate 
renewable energy on-site, given the incompatible roof style for rooftop solar PV. 
Finally, in the long term, BBC should consider moving office to a more energy 
efficient building. This would dramatically reduce emissions from the office site 
and improve the comfort and experience of building occupants. 

Above: Boston Borough Council Municipal Buildings

P
age 91



Municipal Buildings carbon reduction opportunities

38

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Baseline 
GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
year

Implementation 
year GHG 
saving (tCO2e)

CapEx Payback 
period (yr)

1 Loft insulation Installation of loft insulation in the Municipal 
Buildings

Gas: 6,346
Electricity: 2,965

1.9 2023 1.7 ~£9,000 17.5

2 LED lighting in 
‘new’ building

Installation of LED lighting in the newest 
section of the Municipal Buildings

Electricity: 32,729 7.6 2023 5.5 ~£21,000 5.9

3 Boiler upgrade for 
‘old’ building

Upgrading the boiler to a more efficient gas 
boiler in the old section of the Municipal 
Buildings

Gas: 58,118 10.7 2024 10.7 ~£20,000 11.5

4 HVAC service in 
the ‘new’ building

Carry out a full service of the HVAC system 
and replace any failing or faulty parts

Electricity: 20,880 4.9 2024 3.5 Contractor 
quote required

-

5 Upgrade BMS Upgrade the building management system 
across the Municipal Buildings

Gas: 36,808
Electricity: 38,433

13.4 2026 11.1 ~£162,000 32.8

6 Solar carport Construct a solar carport in the parking area of 
the Municipal Buildings. This will provide on-
site electricity generation and additional 
coverage for vehicles 

Electricity: 45,214 10.5 2026 7.8 ~£61,000 12.2

7 New office site Relocate office from the Municipal Buildings to 
a more energy efficient building

Gas: 368,079
Electricity: 86,830

88.0 2036 47.7 N/A -

The following actions have been recommended to reduce carbon emissions at the Municipal Buildings:

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 92



Crematorium carbon reduction opportunities

39

• The crematorium is responsible for 22% of operational emissions. 
The majority of these emissions (87%) come from combustion of 
natural gas in the heating systems and cremator furnace. 13% of 
emissions for the crematorium are attributed to electricity 
consumption for lighting and technical equipment in the cremator 
furnace.

• The crematorium and chapel buildings are currently fairly poor
energy efficiency buildings. Recommendations centre around 
building fabric upgrades, such as installation of cavity wall and 
loft insulation in the chapel and glazing upgrades in the 
crematorium building. Opportunities to install rooftop Solar PV on 
the chapel roof should also be explored to supplement electricity 
consumption on-site. 

• Finally, running the furnace is the most energy intensive process 
at this site. There are few alternatives currently commercially 
available and BBC should continue to monitor the market as 
alternative cremation technologies become established. A biogas 
blend to fuel the furnace should be considered in the medium 
term, with more ambitious action to implement novel cremation 
alternatives, such as Resomation, considered in the longer term. Above: Boston Cemetery Drive

P
age 93



Crematorium carbon reduction opportunities

40

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving (kWh)* Baseline 
GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
Year

Implementation 
year GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period 
(yr)

11 Glazing upgrade of 
crematorium 
building

Upgrade the glazing on all 
crematorium windows and glass 
corridor

Gas: 8394 1.5 2025 1.5 ~£9,000 36.7

12 Crematorium 
louvres

Louvres/brise soleils to be installed 
to the exterior of the glass corridor 
to reduce solar gain in the summer. 
No energy saving here but improved 
comfort levels.

N/A N/A 2025 N/A N/A N/A

13 Upgrade cavity 
wall insulation

Upgrade cavity wall insulation in the 
chapel as far as possible

Gas: 3,592 0.7 2025 0.7 ~£4,000 37.8

14 Loft insulation Install loft insulation in the chapel Gas: 1,734 0.3 2025 0.3 ~£1,300 25.8

15 Solar PV Install Solar PV on the chapel roof Electricity: 27,538 6.4 2027 5.2 ~£32,000 10.6

16 Use biogas blend 
in furnace

Switch fuel combusted in 
crematorium furnace from natural 
gas to a biogas blend

Gas: 110,644
Biogas: - 110,644

20.3 2028 20.3 N/A -

17 Introduce use of a 
new cremation 
method

Implement the usage of Resomation 
or alterative cremation processes

Gas: 442,580
Biogas: - 110,644
Electricity: - 110,644

55.6 2040 75.5 N/A -

The following actions have been recommended to reduce carbon emissions at the Crematorium:

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 94



Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex carbon reduction opportunities

41

• The GMLC is responsible for 51% of operational 
emissions. The majority of these emissions, 77%, come 
from combustion of natural gas in the heating systems 
and pool heating. 23% of emissions for the leisure 
complex are attributed to electricity consumption.

• The Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex is expected to move 
to a new site with state of the art facilities, as a result of 
funding received through the Towns Fund.

Above: Geoff Moulder Leisure Pool Building

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Baseline GHG 
saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
Year

Implementation 
year GHG savings 
(tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period 
(yr)

10 Leisure centre 
redevelopment

Demolition of existing centre and replacement with 
electrically fuelled only state of the art centre that 
adheres to CIBSE good standard as a minimum

Gas: 2,235,782
Electricity: -848,319

213.5 2030 344.3 N/A -

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 95



Guildhall building

42

• The Guildhall building and museum is the fourth largest 
emitting site, with the majority of emissions from the 
consumption of natural gas for heating.

• Given the listed nature of the building, and discussions 
with the estates and facilities team it has been deemed 
that this site has limited potential for carbon reduction 
opportunities.

• Despite not being able to undergo any serious 
upgrades or retrofit, there are still some energy saving 
measures that can be put in place:
• Ensuring all electrical equipment is as efficient as 

possible
• Making sure that heating profiles are optimised

• Furthermore, it is recommended that a detailed energy 
audit is undertaken by a specialist consultant in listed 
buildings.

Above: Guildhall

P
age 96



Public toilets carbon reduction opportunities

43

• The public toilets operated by BBC are responsible for 1% of operational emissions. All these emissions are from 
consumption of electricity. Although these sites contribute very little to the total carbon footprint, there are simple 
energy efficiency measures that can be installed here at low cost to demonstrate BBCs intention to decarbonise.

• The following actions are recommended:

I
D

Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Baseline 
GHG 
saving 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
year

Implementation 
year GHG saving 
(tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period 
(yr)

8 Installation of 
LEDs

Installation of LED lighting 
in all public toilet facilities

Electricity: 3,240 0.8 2025 0.5 ~£2,000 5.9

9 Installation of 
energy 
efficient hand 
dryers

Replacement of old hand 
dryers with energy efficient 
models in all public toilets

Electricity: 3,240 0.8 2025 0.5 ~£3,500 9.8

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 97



Fleet carbon reduction opportunities

44

• BBC’s current fleet consists of 41 vehicles, the majority of which are diesel fuelled maintenance vehicles. Maintenance vehicles
include road sweepers, vans, refuse disposal vehicles and tractors. The fleet also contains one diesel car and 5 pool cars, assumed
to be petrol fuelled. Emissions from the fleet contributed 15% to the total carbon footprint. Vans contributed 12% of total fleet
emissions.

• In order to reduce emissions, the fleet must transition from fossil fuels to electric vehicles. Electrification of the fleet is the most
effective way to decarbonise this emissions category. Cost parity in the near future, and the resulting business case for electric
vehicles (EV), suggest that BBC should take up electric vans as soon as possible.1 As well as reducing emissions, co-benefits of EVs
such as reduced running costs, improved driver experience, and reduced air and noise pollution, make the use of EVs an attractive
option.2

• Since the emissions intensity of electricity in the UK is significantly lower than the emissions intensity of diesel, an emissions
reduction of over 50% for vans would be seen. As the UK grid continues to decarbonise, emissions would continue to decrease
significantly.

Vans

1 Break-up with combustion engines, BNEF (2021)
2 Benefits of electric vehicles, EDF Energy

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving* GHG savings 
(tCO2e)**

Implementation 
year

Implementation 
year GHG 
savings (tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period (yr)

18 Electrification 
of vans

Replace diesel fleet 
vans with electric vans 

Diesel: 25,034 Lt
Electricity: - 110,644 kWh

51.3 2024 52.1 £414,000 14.0

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs. It is assumed the vehicle is                    
purchased outright and not leased, electric vehicle purchasing incentives have not been taken in to account.

P
age 98



Fleet carbon reduction opportunities

45

• 11 of the fleet’s 41 vehicles are diesel fuelled RCVs, responsible for 81% of fleet emissions.

• In order to reduce emissions, RCVs must transition from fossil fuels to electric vehicles. However, the price of electric RCVs could be a barrier
to procurement in the short to mid term. It is expected the price of electric RCVs will continue to fall as uptake increases and supply chains
become more established. As an interim strategy, BBC could immediately trial then rollout compressed natural gas (CNG) RCVs. During this
period, electric RCVs could be trialled with the aim of eventually converting the fleet from fossil fuelled to electric.

• It should be noted that many councils are currently trialling electric RCVs with success. Westminster City Council has partnered with Veolia to
roll out a fully electric fleet, from street sweepers to RCVs and Manchester City Council is set to replace half its current fleet of RCVs with
electric alternatives.1, 2

Refuse collection vehicles (RCV)

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving* GHG savings 
(tCO2e)

Implementation 
year

Implementation year 
GHG savings (tCO2e)

CapEx** Payback 
period (yr)

19 CNG RCV trial Trial use of compressed natural 
gas RCVs for a number of vehicles

Diesel: 14,728 Lt
Biogas: -5,841 kg

38.6 2024 38.6 ~£360,000 24.0

20 CNG RCV 
rollout

Transition whole RCV fleet to 
compressed natural gas

Diesel: 44,184 Lt
Biogas: -17,523 kg

115.8 2027 115.8 ~£1,080,000 24.0

21 Electric RCV 
trial

Trial use of electric RCVs for a 
number of vehicles

Diesel: 14,728 Lt
Electricity: -23,403 kWh

33.1 2030 35.0 ~£450,000 33.6

22 Electric RCV 
rollout

Transition whole RCV fleet to 
electric vehicles including 
previously CNG

Diesel: 88,368 Lt
Electricity: -234,030 kWh
Biogas: 23,364 kg

183.7 2032 201.9 ~£4,500,000 60.8

1 Westminster City Council and Veolia Electric Fleet, 2021
2 Manchester City Council invests £9.8m in electric refuse collection vehicles, 2020

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should be undertaken to better understand expected costs. It is assumed the vehicle is                    
purchased outright and not leased, electric vehicle purchasing incentives have not been taken in to account.

P
age 99



Timeline of opportunity implementation

46

2023
• Loft insulation and LEDs at 

municipal building

2024
• New boiler and HVAC servicing 

at Municipal building
• Rollout of electric vans
• Trial of CNG waste refuse 

vehicle

2025
• Fabric and glazing upgrades at 

the crematorium
• Upgrade all public toilets with 

LEDs and hand dryers

2026
• Installation of solar carport 

and BMS system at municipal 
building

2027
• Installation of Solar PV at 

crematorium
• Rollout of 3 further CNG waste 

refuse vehicles

2028
• 20% biogas blend used at 

crematorium furnace

2030
• Opening of Geoff Moulder 

Leisure Centre redevelopment
• Electric waste refuse vehicle 

trial

2032
• Rollout of electric waste 

vehicles for remainder of fleet

2036
• Suggested relocation of 

operations from municipal 
building to new low carbon 
building

2040
• Resomation technology 

installed at crematorium to 
replace furnaces

P
age 100



0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas Fleet Target

Carbon reduction potential

47

• If all projects outlined within the previous sections are 
implemented then it can be expected that scope 1 and 
2 emissions could decrease by 74% by 2030 and 87% 
by 2040 from a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• The graph (right) demonstrates the change in 
emissions with time. This only shows the scope 1 and 
scope 2 emission sources which have been the focus 
of the carbon reduction opportunity analysis.

• It is expected there will still be 582 tCO2e and 215
tCO2e emitted annually in 2030 and 2040 respectively.

• These residual emissions are largely expected to arise 
from electricity consumption within the new municipal 
building and the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 
redevelopment; fleet emissions are expected to be the 
other significant source of emissions in the future.

• These residual emissions could be reduced by further 
actions in energy efficiency, use of renewables, or 
through greenhouse gas removals/offsets.

-87%

P
age 101



Project finance and cashflow

48

• The graph (right) shows the total spend on projects 
outlined within this section on a year by year basis, as 
well as the expected annual energy cost savings from 
said projects.
• It is worth noting here that only projects where 

capital costs have been quoted are displayed, for 
example cost of and energy savings of the 
relocation of the municipal building offices have 
not been displayed.

• It is expected that the total capital cost of all projects 
will equal approximately £7.1million; once all projects 
are implemented annual energy costs are expected to 
be just over £200k less than they currently are. Overall, 
this means that Boston Borough Council will not have 
positive cash flow until 2063.

• Energy saving costs take in to account projected 
changes in fuel costs.

-£6.0

-£5.0

-£4.0

-£3.0

-£2.0

-£1.0

 £-

 £1.0

Annual energy cost saving Capex Net cash flow

P
age 102



Commuting and business travel carbon reduction opportunities

49

• The emissions associated with employee commuting and business travel made up 4% of the total carbon footprint.
Although this is a small proportion of the footprint, it is an area where rapid, low cost measures can be effectively
implemented. The following opportunities should be considered to reduce the total journeys and mileage carried out
through commuting and business travel:

Electric 
vehicle 

charging 
points

Video 
conferencing

Remote 
working

Public 
transport

Car sharing

Active travel

o Use of video conferencing tools to reduce face-
to-face meetings

o Car sharing schemes reduce miles driven in cars
at low capacity

o Remote working policy to establish when
employees need to travel to the office

o Encourage use of active and public transport as
low carbon alternatives to cars

o Install electric vehicle charging points to
encourage employees to own electric cars

P
age 103



The impact of remote working on emissions

50

During the Covid-19 pandemic, people were required to work from home for periods
of time. As a result, there was a dramatic reduction in emissions from transport, with
road traffic falling between 50 – 75%. However, domestic energy consumption
soared, with residential energy consumption jumping 15% at the start of lockdown in
the UK.1

A review of 39 teleworking studies suggested that teleworking reduces energy
usage, however differences in methodology, scope and assumptions between
studies make it difficult to estimate an ‘average’ energy saving. Despite the generally
positive verdict on teleworking as an energy-saving practice, there are numerous
uncertainties and ambiguities about its actual or potential benefits. These relate to
the extent to which teleworking may lead to unpredictable increases in non-work
travel and home energy use that may outweigh the gains from reduced work travel.
The available evidence suggests that economy-wide energy savings are typically
modest, and in many circumstances could be negative or non-existent.2

A report published by the Carbon Trust found that remote working could save 4.1
MtCO2e per year in the UK.3 The report considered emissions from office energy,
avoided commuting and residential energy consumption. Teleworking post-Covid
(2022+) was found to have the potential to save 273 kgCO2e/teleworker/year. The
study found that saved office emissions were the largest contributor, followed by
avoided commuting, particularly where office buildings are inefficient. The scenario
is based on assumptions about future behaviour and ways of working and is
inherently highly uncertain.

Remote working under a hybrid model may lead to modest carbon savings on an individual level, however the 
outlook is complicated and hybrid working could lead to a rise in carbon emissions

1https://www.iea.org/commentaries/working-from-home-can-save-energy-and-reduce-emissions-but-how-much
2 A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking, Sorrell et.al (2020)
3 Homeworking Report, Carbon Trust & Vodafone Institute for Society and Communication (2021)

272

889

429

273

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Pre-

Covid

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: During-

Covid

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Post-

Covid (2021)

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Post-

Covid (2022+)

P
age 104



The impact of remote working on emissions

51

Remote working under a hybrid model may lead to modest carbon savings on an individual level, however the 
outlook is complicated and hybrid working could lead to a rise in carbon emissions

149

273

Post-Covid (2022+) 68% desk
utilisation

Post-Covid (2022+) 90% desk
utilisation

The study found that factors such as seasonality, proximity to office, and
mode of transport also have an effect on an average teleworkers
emissions. For example, a German teleworker commuting to the office in
winter can reduce their carbon impact by working in the office; whereas in
summer they will reduce their impact by working at home, whether they
commute by train or car. Further, a typical German teleworker commuting
from a rural setting in winter will save emissions by working from home,
where an urban-based teleworker will increase their individual emissions.

Building stock energy efficiency is also important. In winter, as domestic
energy consumption raises to respond to the heating demand in the UK,
the carbon impact of teleworkers might end up being much higher,
particularly where the building stock is predominantly inefficient. This
could exacerbate the negative impact from inefficient homes that
consume a lot of energy and office buildings only partly utilised that would
heat half empty offices. This effect could also be seen where there is a risk
of households being split between teleworking and the office. In the worst-
case scenario, this split could result in higher energy consumption and
more emissions as both homes and offices are fully operating to enable
both parties to work.

1https://www.iea.org/commentaries/working-from-home-can-save-energy-and-reduce-emissions-but-how-much
2 A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking, Sorrell et.al (2020)
3 Homeworking Report, Carbon Trust & Vodafone Institute for Society and Communication (2021)

P
age 105



0
200
400
600
800

1,000
1,200
1,400
1,600
1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas FleetGap-to-target

52

• Complying with national targets for Net Zero 2050 will require BBC 
to dramatically reduce its carbon emissions. However, there may be 
some hard-to-abate emissions remaining after implementation of 
ambitious decarbonisation projects. 

• If all projects outlined in this report are implemented then it can be 
expected that scope 1 and 2 emissions could decrease by 87% by 
2040 from a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• It is expected there will still be 215 tCO2e gap-to-target for a target 
of Net Zero 2040 for scope 1 and 2 emissions.

• These residual emissions arise from electricity consumption in the 
new municipal building and Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 
redevelopment; fleet emissions are expected to be the other 
significant source of emissions in the future.

• These residual emissions could be reduced by further actions in 
energy efficiency and use of renewables. Once every effort has 
been made to reduce these emissions, offsetting using 
nature/technology-based greenhouse gas removals (GGRs) can be 
considered. It is crucial that offsetting should always be secondary 
to all efforts for reducing emissions within the BBC’s own GHG 
inventory. 

-87%

Above: Carbon reduction pathway for scope 1 and 2 emissions

Avoided nature loss

Limits the loss of nature such 
as forests and peatland, which 

currently sequester large 
amounts of carbon.

‘Additional’ emissions 
avoidance/reduction

Reduces emissions from 
current sources that don’t have 
the financial capacity, incentive 

or regulatory requirement to 
decarbonise (e.g., 

cookstoves, renewable energy 
and energy efficiency).

Avoidance/reduction

Nature-based sequestration

Uses nature to sequester more 
carbon in the biosphere, 

including reforestation and 
restoring soil, mangroves, 
seagrass and peatlands.

Technology-based removal: 

Removes CO2 from the 
atmosphere using technological 

methods and stores it in the 
geosphere or through other 

secure methods such as 
concrete (e.g., BECCS1, DACCS2, 

construction using renewable 
timber).

Removal/sequestration

Above: the four categories of carbon offsetting.

P
age 106



Approach to offsetting

53

The exact level of GGRs required by BBC is not clear and the Council should outline an offsetting strategy to ensure integrity and validity of any
GGRs purchased. Market demand for voluntary offsets is expected to soar as Net Zero commitments rise and global offsetting schemes (e.g.
CORSIA1) become effective. The current market is not fit-for-purpose and many of the historic credits that exist on the market draw criticism for
not meeting robust standards. There are therefore calls from market participants (e.g. the Taskforce on Scaling Voluntary Carbon Markets) to
reform these carbon markets and a substantial amount of guidance is expected between now and 2040 as the sector evolves. In the long term, the
principles set out by the University Oxford for net zero aligned carbon offsetting are recommended as a guide for BBC:2

The voluntary offset market will undergo significant change between now and 2040

1 CORSIA: Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation
2 https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/reports/Oxford-Offsetting-Principles-2020.pdf

1

2

3

4

Shift to carbon removal offsetting
To ensure compatibility with the Paris Agreement, users of offsets should increase the portion of offsets that come from carbon removals. By 2050, 100%
of offsets should be sourced from emissions removals.

Shift to long-lived storage
Transition to methods of carbon removal that have a low risk of reversal, over centuries to millennia, for example storing CO2 in geological
reservoirs or mineralising carbon into stable forms (e.g., timber used in construction).

Support the development of net zero aligned offsetting
The market for high-quality offsets that currently meet principles 2 and 3 is immature and requires early-adopters to support its
evolution. This can be done through setting of long term agreements, forming sector alliances, and adopting and publicising these
principles in the OU’s approach to offsetting.

Cut emissions, use high quality offsets, and regularly revise offsetting strategy as best practice evolves
Reductions must be prioritised in the first instance to minimise the need for offsets. Any offsets that are used should be credible and maintain environmental
integrity. All reporting should be done transparently and current emissions, accounting methodology, target setting, and offsetting strategy should all be disclosed.

P
age 107



Governance and 
engagement

54

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 108



Governance

55

• To manage the implementation of a Carbon Reduction Plan it is 
important that organisational procedures and resources are put in place 
to maintain a focus on carbon reduction over time. 

• In order to achieve carbon reductions that will support decarbonisation 
ambitions, BBC will have to consider robust, yet dynamic organisational
structures, to ensure that they remain flexible in the approaches being 
taken to reduce emissions over time. 

• The Climate Change and Environment team should work with all 
departments across the council to ensure progress is made. 

P
age 109



Stakeholder engagement

56

• Robust engagement with stakeholders from across the Council will be 
crucial to enable successful climate action and project implementation. 
BBC should explore innovative ways for the whole organisation to 
contribute towards decarbonisation.

• An effective engagement strategy should be drawn up that actively 
involves all Council departments, employees and Councillors. Achieving 
the greatest possible input and buy-in will allow BBC to work closely 
with stakeholders to identify priority areas for emissions reductions. It 
will be important for the Council to remain transparent throughout all 
engagement activities, and to provide stakeholders with the opportunity 
to contribute towards the planned reduction activities that the Council 
intends to implement across its own estate.

P
age 110



Monitoring and 
reporting

57

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 111



Monitoring and reporting

58

• Once a carbon footprint has been measured, a target set, and a Carbon 
Reduction Plan outlined, monitoring progress is an important part of 
implementation. Monitoring and reporting are essential activities that 
should be undertaken at least annually between the baseline year and 
target year, and beyond.

• Regular data collection and calculation of the carbon footprint should be 
undertaken to track progress against decarbonisation targets.

• Not only does the footprint need to be monitored at least annually, but 
progress with implementing carbon reduction opportunities should be 
actively monitored too. This should include implementation year, energy 
reduction and cost savings. By doing so, successful projects can be 
reported in a quantitative as well as a qualitative way. This can help to 
drive momentum and support the securing of budget for future 
measures.In addition to monitoring the footprint itself, the project team 
should continually monitor how local plans and policies will affect the 
Council’s footprint and affect the ability of the Council to reach its carbon 
reduction target. This will help the team to identify other potential carbon 
reduction opportunities and ensure that any carbon reduction co-benefits 
of specific policies and actions can be delivered. 

P
age 112



Appendices

59

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 113



Appendix A

60

• Key personnel within the Council’s operations were engaged to better understand the opportunities for 
decarbonisation. The following people were contacted to be interviewed:

Stakeholders engaged

Person Position

Andy Fisher Assistant Director - General Fund Assets, Boston Borough 
Council

Nigel Hall Property Services Officer, Boston Borough Council

Richard Tweddell Property Manager, Boston Borough Council

Martin Potts Principal Officer – Bereavement, Boston Borough Council

Victoria Burgess Assistant Director –Neighbourhoods, Boston Borough 
Council

Dave Horry Principal Leisure Services Officer, Boston Borough 
Council

P
age 114



Appendix B

61

• All emission factors are taken from and align with the BEIS GHG reporting emission factors
• The following fuel unit costs are assumed: Gas – 3p/kWh, Biogas – 3p/kWh, Electricity – 11p/kWh, Diesel –

108.43p/litre
• Air source heat pumps are assumed to have a CoP of 3.0, existing boilers to be 80% efficient, and new boilers to be 

95% efficient
• The average annual temperature within Boston is 13.95oC, as taken from local weather stations
• Internal building temperatures are assumed to be 20.5oC

General assumptions

P
age 115



Appendix B

62

Project 
ID

Assumptions

1 Existing U-value – 0.2W/m2K; New U-value – 0.11W/m2K; Roof area – 1,805m2

2 Municipal building aligns with CIBSE Part F type 2 ‘typical’ office; LED saving results in 50% energy decrease as per CT guide CTV049

4 Municipal building aligns with CIBSE Part F type 2 ‘typical’ office; 25%:75% split between gas use for HWS:Heating; 10% energy 
saving possible through HVAC servicing as per carbon trust guide CTV046

5 10% total energy saving possible as per carbon trust guide CTG054

6 Potential solar PV area – 441m2; 80% of area available for panels; 1m2 = 0.15kWp; EST solar calculator – 1kWp = 854.7kWh/yr

7 New build to have same floor area as existing site; new site to be electrically fuelled only; building to be built to RIBA 2030 standard 
of total energy intensity of 55kWh/m2

10 Assume new leisure centre complex to have same floor area, and to meet CIBSE guide F ‘good’ benchmark energy intensity of 
360kWh/m2

11 Total glazed area – 30.8m2; existing U-value – 5W/m2K, new U-value – 1.2W/m2K

13 Existing U-value – 0.55W/m2K; New U-value – 0.23W/m2K; Roof area – 156.5m2

14 Existing U-value – 0.2W/m2K; New U-value – 0.11W/m2K; Roof area – 268.5m2

Project assumptions

P
age 116



Appendix B

63

Project 
ID

Assumptions

15 Potential solar PV area – 214.8m2; 80% of area available for panels; 1m2 = 0.15kWp; EST solar calculator – 1kWp = 854.7kWh/yr

16 Gas blend to be 20% biogas, 80% natural gas

17 Resomation website literature – process consumes 1/5 of current cremation process

18 Current miles per litre for diesel – 7.2 miles/litre; Ford e-transit van achieves 2.93 miles/kWhe

19 Assume CNG vehicles will use compressed biogas as opposed to natural gas; current diesel refuse vehicle – 0.68 miles/litre; CNG 
vehicle achieves 0.58 kg(CNG)/mile; assume only one vehicle trialled initially in 2024

20 Assume a further three vehicles converted to CNG in 2027

21 Current diesel refuse vehicle – 0.68 miles/litre; electric vehicle achieves 2.34kWhe/mile; assume only one vehicle trialled initially in 
2030

22 Assume remaining diesel refuse vehicles converted to electric in 2032, assume CNG refuse vehicles converted to electric in 2037

Project assumptions

P
age 117



Appendix C

64

• GHG Greenhouse gas
• BBC Boston Borough Council
• DEC Display energy certificate
• PSDS Public sector decarbonisation scheme
• SBT Science based target
• SBTi Science Based Targets Initiative
• tCO2e Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
• PV Photovoltaics
• CoP Coefficient of performance
• aM&T Automatic monitoring and targeting
• BMS Building management system
• FES Future energy scenarios
• A/GSHP Air/Ground source heat pump
• kWh Kilowatt hour
• LED Light emitting diode
• HVAC Heating, ventilation and cooling
• GWP Global warming potential
• NOX Nitrous oxides

• SOX Sulphurous oxides
• BAU Business as usual
• FTE Full time employee
• BEIS Department for business, energy and 

industrial strategy
• EV Electric vehicle
• CIBSE Chartered institute of building services 

engineers
• CCC Committee on climate change
• GGR Greenhouse gas removal
• CNG Compressed natural gas
• CT Carbon Trust
• EST Energy saving trust
• DACCS Direct air carbon capture and storage
• RCV Refuse collection vehicle

Abbreviations

P
age 118



Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its 
agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or 
omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing 
in this publication shall be construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or any 
proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual 
property rights to the full extent permitted by law.

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 4190230 with its registered office at 
4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.

© The Carbon Trust 2021. All rights reserved. 

Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its 
agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or 
omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing 
in this publication shall be construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or any 
proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual 
property rights to the full extent permitted by law.

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 4190230 with its registered office at 
4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.

© The Carbon Trust 2021. All rights reserved. 

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Action Details Delivery 

timeframe

Completion Lead officer Estimated cost Estimated carbon savings 

(tCO2e/yr)

Annual savings (£) or payback 

period (yr)

Energy Saving Trust Fleet Review 

to be undertaken 

Energy Saving Trust will able to offer 

more detailed support and guidance 

on the best measures to take 

forward and the viability of key sites 

for transition to EV.

Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Climate Change & 

Environment Officer

None N/a N/a

Feasibility assessment of driver 

training and performance 

measures and their 

costs/benefits.

Energy Saving Trust will able to offer 

more detailed support and guidance 

on the best measures to take 

forward. 

Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Climate Change & 

Environment Officer

N/a To be determined by fleet review To be determined by fleet 

review 

Explore mechanisms for 

implementing driver league 

tables for refuse fleet.

Implement quarterly MPG league 

tables for waste fleet drivers with 

appropriate reward incentives.

Q2/3 2022 Implemented by 

Spring 2023

Service Manager for 

Waste

N/a 55 1,300

Driver training for all regular fleet 

driver vehicles e.g. 

waste/neighbourhood.

All regular fleet vehicle drivers to 

attend a driver training course once 

every five years.

Q1/Q2 2022 Implemented by 

Spring 2023

Neighbourhoods/ 

Waste Services 

Manager.

HR managed?

£20,200* 94 45,000

Online driver training module for 

all pool car users.

All pool car users to undertake a 

module on eco-driving.

Q4 2022 Ongoing Fleet 

Manager/Corporate 

issue?

To be determined To be determined To be determined 

FLEET

 

This Action Plan is based on the best options currently available to us and may be subject to change dependant on the outcomes of further feasibility assessment and technological advancements. Renewable 

energy technology is advancing all the time and as it is developed generally becomes more affordable and viable.  

Decarbonisation strategies will be developed for all operational Council buildings and will inform the actions we take forward in relation to those premises. The Energy Saving Trust Fleet Review will also 

inform the choices we make in relation to the future of our fleet.   

P
age 121



As pool car fleet come up for 

renewal - move to hybrid and EV 

technology. No new petrol/diesel 

vehicles to be purchased.

New procurement decisions around 

pool cars should seek low-carbon 

alternatives with no new fossil fuel 

replacements being purchased/leased

Ongoing as fleet 

comes under 

review

To be confirmed 

dependent on 

review periods 

Fleet Manager To be confirmed due to 

significant variables in 

approach

A 2018 report found that petrol 

vehicles produced the highest level 

of carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions 

at 125g per kilometre, while diesel 

vehicles emitted 122g. Battery 

electric vehicles in comparison 

produced zero CO2 tailpipe 

emissions. Therefore a reduction of 

up to 125g per km could be 

achieved. In the UK in 2019, the 

lifetime emissions per kilometre of 

driving a Nissan Leaf EV for example 

were about three times lower than 

for the average conventional car 

however these type of comparisons 

are complex and depend on the size 

of the vehicles, the accuracy of the 

fuel-economy estimates used, how 

electricity emissions are calculated, 

what driving patterns are assumed 

etc.

Electric cars typically cost £2 – 

£4 to fully charge, for a range of 

100 miles. An equivalent petrol 

or diesel car costs £13 – £16 to 

drive 100 miles – approximately 

four times the cost. Approx 

£18,000 per year saving 

achievable.

Electrification of pool cars & vans As fleet vehicles come to the end of 

their planned usage period, replace  

with electric alternatives

2024 Ongoing Fleet 

Manager/Corporate 

issue?

£414,000 51.3 14 yr  **

CNG RCV trial Trial use of compressed natural gas

RCVs for a number of vehicles

2024 - Fleet 

Manager/Corporate 

issue?

£360,000 38.6 24 yr

Investigate low emission vehicle 

alternatives to HGV fleet as 

technology allows in line with 

proposed review of waste fleet.

As review of waste fleet comes up 

alternatives to be explored. Likely to 

be part of Lincs Waste Partnership 

review.

Q1 2026 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

To be determined 

following fleet review 

1,097* To be determined following fleet 

review 

CNG RCV rollout Transition whole RCV fleet to

compressed natural gas

2027 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

£1,080,000 115.8 24 yr

Electric RCV trial Trial use of electric RCVs for a number 

of vehicles

2030 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

£450,000 33.1 33.6 yr

Electric RCV

rollout

Transition whole RCV fleet to electric

vehicles including previously CNG

2032 - Waste Services 

Manager /Lincs Waste 

Partnership

£4,500,000 183.7 60.8 yr

BUILDINGS

P
age 122



Development of Decarbonisation 

Strategy for Municipal Buildings 

Future actions will be subject to 

change depending on feasibility 

outcomes from the devlopment of 

the decarbonisation strategy

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought via 

Midlands Energy Hub

N/a N/a

Installation of loft insulation in 

the Municipal

Buildings

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2023 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£9,000 1.9 17.5 yr

Installation of LED lighting in the 

newest section of

the Municipal Buildings

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2023 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£21,000 7.6 5.9 yr

Upgrading the boiler to a more 

efficient gas boiler in the old 

section of the Municipal Buildings

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2024 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£20,000 10.7 11.5 yr

Municipal Buildings - HVAC 

service in the ‘new’ building - 

Carry out a full service of the 

HVAC system and replace any 

failing or faulty parts

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2024 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

Contractor quote 

required - To be 

determined 

4.9 N/a

Upgrade the building 

management system across the 

Municipal Buildings

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2026 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£162,000 13.4 32.8 yr 

Construct a solar carport in the 

parking area of the Municipal 

Buildings and investigate 

potential for EV storage bank. 

This will provide on-site electricity 

generation and additional coverage 

for vehicles. If stoarge bank is found 

to be feasibile this could generate an 

income and would provide energy 

supply on low light days and after 

sunset

2026 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£61,000 10.5 12.2 yr

Relocate office from the 

Municipal Buildings to a more 

energy efficient building

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2036 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

88 To be determined following 

feasibility study/ development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

P
age 123



Development of Decarbonisation 

Strategy for Crematorium (Wast 

Heat Strategy to form part of 

this) 

Future actions will be subject to 

change depending on feasibility 

outcomes from the development of 

the decarbonisation strategy

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought via 

Midlands Energy Hub

N/a N/a

Crematorium Chapel - Upgrade 

cavity wall insulation in the 

chapel as far as possible and 

Install loft insulation.

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£5,300 1 Cavity insulation - 37.8 yr                     

Loft insulation - 25.8 yr

Crematorium building - Upgrade 

glazing on all crematorium 

windows and glass corridor.

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£9,000 1.5 36.7 yr

Crematorium louvres Louvres/brise soleils to be installed

to the exterior of the glass corridor

to reduce solar gain in the summer.

No energy saving here but improved

comfort levels. This recommendation 

has been made by the Carbon Trust as 

part of the Carbon Reduction Plan 

however will be refined as part of the 

development of a decarbonisation 

strategy.  

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be confirmed N/a N/a

Install Solar PV on the chapel roof This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy 

2027 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£32,000 6.4 10.6

Switch fuel combusted in 

crematorium

furnace from natural gas to a 

biogas blend

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy.  

2028 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

20.3 To be determined following 

feasibility study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

Introduce use of a new cremation 

method 

Implement the usage of Resomation 

or alternative cremation processes. 

This recommendation has been made 

by the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy.  

2040 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

55.6 To be determined following 

feasibility study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

P
age 124



Development of Decarbonisation 

Strategy for Geoff Moulder 

Leisure Centre 

Future actions will be subject to 

change depending on feasibility 

outcomes from the development of 

the decarbonisation strategy

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought via 

Midlands Energy Hub

N/a N/a

Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 

to move to a new site with state 

of the art facilities

Many actions already taken at this 

site to reduce CO2 impact. This 

recommendation has been made by 

the Carbon Trust as part of the 

Carbon Reduction Plan however will 

be refined as part of the development 

of a decarbonisation strategy.  

2030 - Property & Technical 

Services/Corporate 

Issue?

To be determined 

following feasibility 

study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

213.5 To be determined following 

feasibility study/development of 

decarbonisation strategy 

Specialist feasibility study/ 

Decarbonisation Stratgy  to be 

undertaken for Guidhall due to 

listed building status

Engage specialists to produce 

Decarbonisation Plan for the 

Guildhall. Future actions will be 

subject to change depending on 

outcomes from feasiblilty 

study/development of the 

decarbonisation strategy

Poss 2023 - 

external funding 

likely to be 

available

- Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

Funding to be sought N/a N/a

Public toilets are to have LED 

lighting and energy efficient hand 

dryers fitted 

2025 - Property & Technical 

Services/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer

£5,500 1.6 LED Lighting - 5.9 yr                                

Hand dryers - 9.8 yr

WASTE

Develop cross alliance single use 

waste policy and undertake audit 

of current usage.

Audit of current single-use product 

usage in line with policy 

development. Service areas may be 

tasked with addressing their own 

purchases etc. This in itself will deliver 

a separate programme of work but is 

designed to reduce overall waste 

from assets.

Q3 2022 - Procurement 

Manager/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer 

N/a To be determined following 

Procurement audit 

To be determined following 

Procurement audit 

Kettles and fridges should be 

removed from all offices and 

depots and must be situated in 

communal kitchens only.   

Q1 2023 - Property & Technical 

Services 

N/a To be determined To be determined 

Review of current 

recycling/waste arrangements. 

Q1 2023 - Procurement 

Manager/Climate 

Change & Environment 

Officer 

To be determined N/a N/a

COMMUTING

Promotion through internal 

communications of 

hybrid/electric vehicles for 

commuting to educate and 

increase awareness. 

Ensure salary sacrifice schemes for 

low emission/EV vehicles are 

accessible to employees. Due to be 

reviewed by PSPS Board in December 

2021 with a view to Tusker Scheme 

being rolled out in April 2022  

Q3 2022 - Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment Team 

N/a To be determined To be determined 

P
age 125



Vehicle sharing incentive scheme. Implement vehicle sharing incentive 

schemes as appropriate for staff 

travelling to offices.

2023 - Communications 

Team/HR/ Climate 

Change & Environment 

Team 

To be determined To be determined To be determined 

Encourage the maintenance of 

online meetings, agile working 

and work from home via 

policies/internal comms.

Agile working policy in place. Internal 

comms may be needed to ensure new 

ways of working are maintained.

Q2 2022 Ongoing Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment 

Team/HR

N/a To be determined To be determined 

Monitoring of post COVID returns 

to the office for 12-24 months. 

By monitoring year on year footprints 

post Covid, will identify where old 

ways of working have slipped back 

and help to focus how gains can be 

maintained.

Q1 2023 Q1 2024 HR/Climate Change & 

Environment Team/ 

Communications

N/a Saving made through harnessing 

carbon reductions made as a result 

of the impact of COVID19 - 

Commuter travel went down by in 

5.1 tCO²e in FY 2020/21.  

Target reduction of 50% per 

annum 

BUSINESS TRAVEL

Encourage online meetings, agile 

working and work from home. 

Agile working policy in place. Internal 

comms may be needed to ensure new 

ways of working are maintained.

Q1 2022 Ongoing Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment 

Team/HR 

N/a To be determined To be determined

Training all staff & members to 

use conference technology more 

effectively to support agile 

working including new starters.

Teams & telephone conferencing 

training especially for meeting 

organisers. 

2022 Ongoing IT/HR To be confirmed To be determined To be determined

Encourage staff & members to 

vehicle share when attending 

business meetings. 

2022 Ongoing Communications 

Team/Climate Change 

& Environment 

Team/HR 

N/a To be determined To be determined

Monitoring of post COVID 

business travel for 12-24 months.

By monitoring year on year footprints 

post Covid, we will identify where old 

ways of working have slipped back 

and help to focus how gains can be 

maintained.

Q1 2023 Q1 2024 HR/Climate Change & 

Environment Team/  

Communications

N/a Savings made through harnessing 

carbon reductions made as a result 

of the impact of COVID19 - Business 

travel went down by in 12.5 tCO²e 

in FY 2020/21.  

Target reduction of 50% per 

annum 

LINKED INITIATIVES

Carbon Literacy Training to be 

rolled out to all employees & 

members.

Top down approach to training all 

staff with rolling programme of 

training for new starters. Lincolnshire 

wide member training being currently 

explored for consistency. 

Q1 2023 Ongoing Climate Change & 

Environment 

Manager/Officer 

£11,000 - across the 

S&ELCP

5-10% reduction per person To be determined

Establish Green Champions 

across the Alliance to assist in the 

promotion of Carbon reduction 

measures. 

Bringing champions from all services 

areas together to drive forward 

projects and improvements and take 

ownership of their own impacts on 

organisational carbon footprint.

2022 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

N/a N/a N/a

P
age 126



Strategy for tackling residual 

emissions in line with accredited 

GHG removal including natural 

solutions.

As GHG removal initiatives become 

clearer, routes to tackling residual 

emissions should be identified.

2025 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Funding to be sought N/a N/a

LEADING THE COMMUNITY

Formation of South East 

Lincolnshire Climate Action 

Network (SELCAN) and Climate 

Change Strategy.

Facilitated by the Strategic Alliance, 

SELCAN will bring together private, 

public and community sectors to 

jointly tackle climate change. This will 

provide a platform for best practise to 

evolve in relation to Climate Change 

and provide support for stakeholders 

who wish to become more 'green'.

2022 - Climate Change & 

Environment 

Team/Across Alliance 

N/a SELCAN will aim to assist external 

organisations in reducing their own 

carbon emissions rather than direct 

reductions to our operational 

emissions.

N/a

Community Orchards initiatives. Formation of small carbon sinks and 

provision of other environmental and 

co-benefits. One acre of orchard can 

absorb 10-20 tC02 per year.

Ongoing - Climate Change & 

Environment Team

Grant funding secured To be determined To be determined 

Embodied carbon strategy for 

new developments.

New buildings which are more energy 

efficient need to be understood 

alongside the payback of the 

materials used in their development.

2024 - Climate Change & 

Environment Team/ 

Property & Technical 

Services

Funding to be sought N/a To be determined 

Full emissions consideration for 

ensuring net zero aspirations are 

part of supplier 

contracts/services through 

procurement policies.

Understand the impact of our wider 

emissions through everything we 

procure. As appropriate, require 

suppliers to meet particular carbon 

emissions standards.

2023 - Procurement Manager To be confirmed - A 

study looking specifically 

at these emissions is 

likely to cost in the 

region of £10,000

To be determined To be determined 

* figures proposed by Carbon Trust as part of their review but will need further investigation

** Payback periods listed have been sourced from the Carbon Reduction Plan and will be part of the cost benefit analysis which will be undertaken as part of feasibility assessments. 

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Overview and Scrutiny – Environment and Performance Committee 

DATE: 22 March 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

Joint Scrutiny between partner councils in the South & East 

Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP) 

 

To agree a protocol for joint scrutiny between the partner councils 

in the S&ELCP; to agree the scope for a Joint Transport Task and 

Finish Group; and to agree the appointment of three members to 

the Joint Task and Finish Group.  

KEY DECISION: N 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Portfolio Holder Economic Development and Planning 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

Mark Stinson  

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? N 

 

 

SUMMARY 

This report outlines a proposal for the three councils in the S&ELCP to undertake joint scrutiny 

on matters of common strategic importance; and the proposed process to achieve this. The 

report also proposes establishment of the first Joint Task and Finish Group – Transport. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

a) That the proposals for joint scrutiny arrangements, as set out in Appendix A, be approved; 

 

b) That the scope for the proposed Joint Transport Task and Finish Group, as set out in 

Appendix B, be approved;  

 

c) That the Committee appoints three members to the proposed Joint Transport Task and 

Finish Group; and 

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 3



d) That the Task and Finish Group be authorised to determine the detail of its remit and the 

required lines of enquiry and witnesses 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

A co-ordinated approach to matters of common strategic interest is a significant benefit to the 
S&ELCP and its constituent councils. Efficient and effective joint scrutiny will be key to achieving 
that benefit. The proposals in this report outline a clear mechanism for this to be 
achieved/implemented.  

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Do nothing:  not recommended – this approach would not support collaborative working and 

would potentially lead to a duplication of work across the S&ELCP. 

 

1.  BACKGROUND 

1.1 In establishing the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, members of each of the 

partner councils recognised that matters of common strategic interest would benefit from a  

co-ordinated partnership approach.  

 

1.2 It is considered that the establishment of a joint scrutiny function, to consider matters in 

depth from a Partnership perspective, would be beneficial and would support the co-

ordinated partnership approach.  

1.3 At an initial meeting between the Chairs of the councils’ scrutiny committees, a list of 

potential scrutiny items was considered (these were largely taken from the Annual Delivery 

Plan). Whilst scrutiny committees will, of course, wish to identify their own priorities for joint 

scrutiny, there was general support for an initial Joint Task and Finish Group to consider 

Transport. The proposed scope is set out at Appendix B. 

2. PROPOSAL 

2.1 The proposed approach to joint scrutiny is set out in Appendix A. However, in short, each 
council’s relevant scrutiny committee will appoint up to three members and any external 
representatives (following that committee’s usual processes) to a joint task and finish group 
for any given topic. Each agreed topic will have its own task and finish group. 

 
2.2  The ‘parent’ scrutiny committees will set the broad remit of the task and finish groups, but 

each task and finish group will have authority to determine the detail and the lines of 
enquiry/witnesses. A Lead Officer will be appointed by the relevant Deputy Chief Executive, 
and that Lead Officer will support the task and finish group and will prepare any final report 
(in consultation with the task and finish group). 

 
2.3 Final task and finish group reports will be submitted to each council’s parent scrutiny 

committee for final review/adoption and subsequent recommendation on to the relevant 
decision-making body as appropriate. 

 
 

Page 130



2.4 Feedback on the proposal was obtained from the scrutiny Chairs of each council and that 
feedback has been reflected in this report and/or Appendix A. In summary, feedback was 
that: 

 

• there should be no more than three or four topics considered each year. 

• there needs to be clarity around who approves/implements any recommendations and 
that recommendations be tracked. 

• the arrangements need to be kept as simple as possible. 

• there should be clarity as to whether Joint Task and Finish Groups meet privately or 
publicly. 

 
2.5 Political Group Leaders were also consulted and again their feedback has been reflected in 

this report and/or Appendix A. In summary, feedback was that: 
 

• place based scrutiny arrangements may need to be examined in order to ensure that 
joint scrutiny is successful. 

• given that there are limited resources, any joint scrutiny needs to be restricted to areas 
where there is a genuine need, identified benefits and anticipation of real outcomes. 

 
2.6 Whilst the scrutiny committees of each Council will wish to identify their own topics for 

joint scrutiny, a number of proposed topics have been identified, largely from the Annual 
Delivery Plan, and are listed in Appendix  C. 

 
2.7 Finally, it should be noted that two of the councils have more than one ‘parent’ scrutiny 

committee. The proposal at Appendix A assumes that the approval of scopes and the 
appointment of members to Task and Finish Groups will be determined by the parent 
committee whose terms of reference most closely reflect the topic in question – but with 
the overarching aim of equal distribution of topics between those parent committees so far 
as practicable. 

 
2.8  The process set out in Appendix A, when viewed in light of local custom and practice in 

scrutiny, will be kept under review and brought back to parent scrutiny committees for 
consideration and/or amendment as may be necessary. 

 

3. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 This report seeks approval of the proposals for joint scrutiny of matters of strategic 

importance to the Partnership and the establishment of the Joint Transport Task and Finish 
Group. 

 
4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 Collaborative working on areas of strategic importance. 
 
5. IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

5.1.1 The approach proposed in this report fully supports the strategic objectives of the S&ELCP. 

 

 
Page 131



5.2 CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

5.2.1 Task and Finish Groups will be established to address joint strategic objectives of the 

S&ELCP. This means that, over time, many such priorities will be covered and many of these 

will align to or support local corporate priorities. 

5.3 STAFFING 

5.3.1 There will be some additional meetings which will have an impact on officer and member 

time. However, in light of feedback from scrutiny chairs, the number of task and finish 

groups will be limited to a maximum of four per year.  

5.4 CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.4.1 All recommendations arising from joint task and finish groups will be reported to each 

sovereign council’s parent scrutiny committee. If supported, those recommendations will 

then be considered by the relevant decision-maker for each sovereign council. As such, the 

process is legally and constitutionally sound. 

5.4.2 Suitable provision will be made in the Constitutions of each council as part of the proposed 

review of the constitutions set out in the Annual Delivery Plan. 

5.5 DATA PROTECTION 

5.5.1 It is likely that most of the work of task and finish groups will not involve the use of 

personal data. However, should personal data be processed, each of the councils have 

appropriate technical and organisational measures in place to protect the same. There are 

also suitable protocols in place between the councils. 

5.6 FINANCIAL 

5.6.1 There are unlikely to be any significant financial implications. There may be a small 
additional cost in terms of the cost of travel and venue hire (if required). 

 
5.7 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.7.1 None at this stage. 

 
5.8 STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

5.8.1 A draft of these proposals has been shared with scrutiny chairs, political group leaders and 

Cabinet members. Feedback as a result of that consultation has been incorporated in the 

report and/or the proposals at Appendix A. 

5.9 REPUTATION 

5.9.1 Successful delivery of joint scrutiny, which leads to improved strategic outcomes, will be 

important to the reputation of the S&ELCP. 

5.10 CONTRACTS 

5.10.1 None at this stage. 

5.11 CRIME AND DISORDER 

5.11.1 None at this stage. 

Page 132



5.12 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

5.12.1 None at this stage. 

5.13 HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

5.13.1 None at this stage. 

5.14  CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.14.1 None at this stage – although the outcome of scrutinising transport (and other subsequent 

topics) has the potential to impact positively on climate change and environmental matters. 

6. ACRONYMS 

6.1 BBC   – Boston Borough Council 
 ELDC   – East Lindsey District Council 
 SHDC   – South Holland District Council 

S&ELCP    – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Joint Scrutiny Proposal 

APPENDIX B Joint Transport Scope 

APPENDIX C List of potential joint scrutiny topics (arising mostly from 

the Annual Delivery Plan) 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Mark Stinson 

Mark.Stinson@sholland.gov.uk 

Signed off by: Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring 

Officer) 

Mark.Stinson@sholland.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Portfolio Holder Economic Development & Planning 

 Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



         Appendix A  

Joint Scrutiny Framework 

Background 

In establishing the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, members of each of the partner 

councils recognised that there would be matters of common strategic interest which would benefit 

from a co-ordinated partnership approach.  

In progressing such items, it is sensible to establish a joint scrutiny function to consider the matters 

in depth from a Partnership perspective. 

Proposed Approach to Joint Scrutiny 

It is important that scrutiny of any topics agreed as being important to the Partnership is conducted 

jointly but it is also important that such scrutiny is legally and constitutionally robust from the 

perspective of each sovereign council. 

In order to achieve both of the above requirements, each agreed topic will be considered by a Joint 

Task and Finish Group. The members of each Task and Finish Group be appointed by each of the 

sovereign councils’ appropriate overview and scrutiny committee which are: 

• For SHDC, Policy Development Panel or Performance Monitoring Panel 

• For ELDC, the Overview Committee 

• For BBC, the Overview & Scrutiny – Corporate and Community Committee or the Overview 

and Scrutiny Environment and Performance Committee 

Each principal scrutiny committee will appoint a maximum of three elected members to each 

established Task and Finish Group (whether from the membership of the ‘parent’ scrutiny 

committee or any other non-executive members of the relevant sovereign council) in accordance 

with their usual process for appointing to Task and Finish Groups. This will enable a wide range of 

members to be appointed to different Task and Finish Groups. Principal scrutiny committees may 

also appoint other suitable individuals to Task and Finish Groups as necessary (an example might be 

an individual from the NHS for a health-related topic). 

Where a council has more than one principal scrutiny committee, the scope for a Task and Finish 

Group will be taken to the principal scrutiny committee whose terms of reference most closely 

match the topic in question – but with the intention of equal allocation overall so far as practicable. 

In order to create the necessary governance link in each council’s decision-making process, the Task 

and Finish Group’s recommendations and/or updates will be reported back to each sovereign 

council’s principal scrutiny committee for approval and/or information as appropriate. 

Principal scrutiny committees will set the remit of each Task and Finish Group at a high level, but 

authority to determine the detail of the remit and the required lines of enquiry/witnesses will be 

delegated to Task and Finish Groups by each parent scrutiny committee. 

The Deputy Chief Executive, within whose portfolio the scrutiny topic resides, will appoint the Lead 

Officer to support the Task and Finish Group; and the final report of any Task and Finish Group will 

be drafted by the Lead Officer (in consultation with the Task and Finish Group) in order to avoid any 

suggestion of bias towards any one of the Partnership councils. 

Page 135



In order to ensure that capacity is managed, any joint scrutiny work must have clear benefits and no 

more than four topics will be scrutinised in any municipal year. 

Recommendations from Task and Finish Groups, if supported by the parent scrutiny committees, will 

be taken through the relevant decision-making process of each Council. The decision-maker will 

depend upon whether the matter in question is an executive or non-executive function. 

Recommendations will be tracked by the DEMS Team(s) in liaison with the Lead Officer. 

It is recognised that a free and frank exchange of ideas, together with the willingness of witnesses to 

engage, may be best served by meetings taking place in private. Task and finish groups will, 

however, be free to meet in public where they feel that this best serves the public interest. 

Recommendations will in any event be reported to parent scrutiny committees. These meetings will 

be considered in public unless it is clearly in the public interest not to do so. 

The partner Councils will keep this process, and the way it operates alongside place-based scrutiny, 

under review 

Flowchart 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PDP or PMP (SHDC) 
Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee (ELDC) 

O&S C and C or O&S E 

and P (BBC) 

Joint Task & Finish Group                                                                  

Agrees detail, lines of enquiry and witnesses and undertakes the 

scrutiny. 

Supported by Lead Officer                                                                    

Lead Officer appointed by relevant Deputy Chief Executive 

Final report and any update reports drafted by Lead Officer and 

presented to parent Overview & Scrutiny Committees for formal 

approval. 

Appoint up to 3 members each, plus any external representatives that might 

be helpful to the topic.  Set broad topic for scrutiny. 

Topic identified 

Page 136



Appendix B 
 

TASK & FINISH SCRUTINY PANEL 
Project Scoping Template 

 

Topic: Public Transport 

 
 
 
 

Objectives and Key Issues: 

 

There are a wide range of issues to explore as part of this exercise including:- 

• Recent issues affecting Brylaine and Boston Services. 

• The role of public transport to support access to learning for both young people and 

adult learners. 

• The role of public transport to support wider economic access to jobs. 

• The role of public transport in the climate change outcomes for both the SELCP and 

the businesses within our geography. 

• To support reduction in pollution in line with the Air Quality Management Area. 

• To enhance the visitor economy. 

 
 

Lines of Enquiry: 
 

- Review current bus and train provision in Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland. 

- Work with operators to understand the challenges and opportunities. 

- Work with LCC to consider current strategies and new initiatives. 

- Work with colleges to consider access to learning. 

- Business sector to consider impact of travel. 

- Impact on climate change. 
 

 

 
Standard Areas to Consider: Equalities / Relationship with Corporate Strategy / Financial Implications 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



Witnesses 

 

Internal: Michelle Sacks, Lydia Rusling, Mike Gildersleeves, Matthew Hogan, Nick Davis, Nigel Birch and 
Sarah Baker. 

 

 

External: Brylaine, Stagecoach, Hunts, Grayscroft, EMR, LCC, Health, community representatives, 
business representatives and external best practice practitioners and colleges. 
 

 

Resources: n/a 

 

Liaison Officer: Michelle Sacks / Lydia Rusling 

 

 

Required officer expertise: Growth Team 

 

Timescale: 

Start date: TBC 

End date: TBC 

Target Executive / Cabinet meeting: TBC 

Target Overview / Scrutiny Meeting: TBC 

Target Council meeting: TBC 
 

 

Page 138



 

Suggested joint scrutiny topics 

Topic Portfolio Holders CX / DCX Assistant  

Director 

Possible  

Timeline 
Public Transport (Review bus/train provision, the challenges and 
opportunities, access to education/employment/tourism) 

SHDC – Cllr N. Worth 
BBC – Cllr N. Welton 
ELDC – Cllr Grist / Kirk 

Michelle Sacks Lydia Rusling March 2022 
3 – 6 months 

ICT Strategy (review of the proposed S&ELCP ICT strategy in terms 
of priorities and delivery) 

SHDC – Cllr J. Astill 
BBC – Cllr P. Skinner 
ELDC – Cllr C. Leyland 

Christine Marshall James Gilbert May 2022 
2 months 

Housing Strategy (Developing a Housing Strategy across the 
Partnership including impact on decisions around housing list 
prioritisation) 

SHDC – Cllr C. Lawton 
BBC – Cllr M. Griggs 
ELDC – Cllr W. Gray  

John Leach  Emily Spicer October 2022 
3-4 months 

Health & Leisure Facilities (sub-region) SHDC – G. Taylor 
BBC – Cllr T. Abbott 
ELDC – Cllr G. Marsh 

John Leach Phil Perry September 2022 
3 – 4 months 

Health & Wellbeing Action Plan (sub-region) (Developing a Health 
& Wellbeing action plan across the Partnership addressing health 
inequalities and linking to the wider determinants of health) 

SHDC – Cllr E. Sneath 
BBC – Cllr M. Griggs 
ELDC – Cllr W. Gray 

John Leach Emily Spicer July 2022 
3 – 6 months 

Environmental Act 2021 (sub-region) (Developing the waste 
strategy in order to deliver the requirements of the Act as set out in 
the statutory guidance due Spring 2022) 

SHDC – Cllr R. Gambba-Jones 
BBC – Cllr D. Evans 
ELDC – Cllr M. Foster 

John Leach Victoria Burgess January 2023 
3 – 4 months 

Single Use Waste Policy (development of a partnership approach to 
the sustainable purchasing of supplies and services to influence and 
reduce waste and use of resources in manufacture and  supply 
chains) 

SHDC – R. Gambba-Jones 
BBC – Cllr D. Evans 
ELDC – Cllr M. Foster 

John Leach Christian Allen September 2022 
2 months 

Housing Delivery (delivery of 1000 properties across the partnership 
over 10 years) 

SHDC – Cllr P. Coupland 
BBC – Cllr J. Noble 
ELDC – Cllr R. Fry 

Adrian Sibley Richard Hodgson 1 – 2 months 

An offer to Overview & Scrutiny to review the work of the 
executive/cabinet and look for partnership opportunities to explore 
such as policy development, service merger reviews and 
partnership engagement. 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Chairs 
and Vice Chairs from SHDC, 
BBC and ELDC 

Rob Barlow All n/a 

 

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PEFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 22 MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

MEMBER FLY-TIPPING WORKING GROUP 

 

TO REPORT TO THE COMMITTEE THE OUTCOMES FROM THE WORK 

UNDERTAKEN BY THE FLY-TIPPING WORKING GROUP 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR EVANS, PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

REPORT AUTHOR: VICTORIA BURGESS, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – NEIGHBOURHOODS 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

In response to the 140% increase in fly-tipping experienced across the Borough, the 

Environment and Performance Committee asked for a Member Working Group to be set up to 

identify any actions that could be taken reduce the number of fly tips. This report presents the 

council’s data on fly-tipping incidents and the outcomes from meetings held by the Member 

Working Group on fly-tipping in 2021. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that the Environment and Performance Committee: 

• receives the report and notes the work undertaken and outcomes achieved by the Member 

Working Group for incorporation with the committee’s annual report of its activity. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

• to update the Environment and Performance Committee on the work of the member 

Working Group  

• to enable this activity to be included in the Committee’s annual report. 

 
Page 141

Agenda Item 4



OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

N/A 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1.  Having experienced a 140% increase in the number of incidents of fly-tipping between 

2019/20 and 2020/21, the Environment and Performance Committee asked for a Member 

Working Group to be set up to identify any actions that could be taken to reverse the 

trend. 

 

1.2. The MWG met virtually on three occasions, with the first meeting of this Member Working 

Group was held on the 4th February 2021. Subsequent meetings were held on 12th March 

2021 and 11th May 2021. The MWG comprised of Cllr Bedford, Cllr Dani, Cllr Evans, Cllr 

Goodale, Cllr Hastie, Cllr Stevens, Cllr Welbourn, Cllr Watson, Cllr Woodliffe, and chaired by 

Victoria Burgess. Cllr Welbourn provided verbal updates to the E&P Committee. 

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1. There has been an increase in the incidents of fly-tipping nationally since the country went 

into lockdown in March 2020. The increase in Boston has been substantial with a 140% 

increase between the financial years 2019/20 (1211 fly tips) and 2020/21 (2937 fly tips).  

 

2.2. However, since May 2021, the number of fly tips reduced, and although the number 

increased again in July 2021 this number has been reducing since September 2021. 

 

2.3. Chart 1 shows the trend in numbers: 

 Chart1: Fly-tips within the Borough April 2019 to December 2022 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2019/20 94 74 68 106 101 103 108 102 89 149 111 174

2020/21 193 177 254 257 225 268 253 269 202 342 323 377

2021/22 377 277 202 291 350 336 284 259 177

Number of fly tip incidents (by month)

Page 142



 

2.4. This increase was due primarily to the fly tipping of black bagged domestic waste, and 

other household waste, such as furniture and mattresses.  

 

2.5. Members received information on fly-tipping types and number of incidents across the 

Borough, relevant legislation and enforcement, the role of Lincolnshire County Council and 

the provision of its Household Waste Recycling Centre, and the responsibilities of residents 

and landlords in terms of waste storage and presentation. Members discussed likely 

reasons for the increase in fly-tipping and identified areas for potential intervention. 

 

2.6. Outcomes of the Member Working Group were: 

• Increased fixed penalty notice to £400 for fly tipping offences 

• Establishment of effective cross departmental arrangements within the Council to co-
ordinate enforcement actions which targeted waste related anti-social behaviour and 
involved the Council’s environmental health, housing standards, and waste 
enforcement teams. A cross departmental case review meeting meets weekly. 

• Engagement with landlords and tenants, which included writing to all landlords and 
letting agents reminding them of their responsibilities to address waste related anti-
social behaviour at rented properties. This also included visits to individual properties 
reported to the council as requiring support. 

• Extended enviro-crime contracts to target fly tipping and deployment of overt cameras 
in hot spot areas 

• Improved communication with the public including new signage and proportionate 
enforcement at recycling bring sites, significantly reducing fly tipping incidents. 

• Increased use of social media to publicise successful enforcement action, and 
responsible waste management. 

• Use of pictorial communications messages around waste introduced. 

• Soft market test conducted for a new enviro crime contract; national interest received 

• Trial to test impact of free bulky collections on fly tipping 

• To investigate the potential for caught on camera initiatives. 

• Liaison with the County Council to suggest options for improving access to the 
Household Waste Recycling Centre 

• Enforcement services provided business as usual publishing monthly performance 
information published on the website at Environmental Crime | Boston Borough Council 
(mybostonuk.com). 

 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1. The work undertaken by the Member Working Group has supported officers in delivering a 

number of positive outcomes in tackling the incidence of fly tipping across the Borough. 

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Learning from actions taken by Boston Borough Council to reduce the incidence of fly-tipping is 
shared with the other councils in the partnership. 
 
 
  

Page 143

https://www.mybostonuk.com/operations/env-crime/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/operations/env-crime/


IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

Shared learning between the councils. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The work undertaken by the Member Working Group meets the Council’s corporate priority of 

environmental awareness and accountability, in particular the Council’s commitment to proactively 

educate and enforce against environmental crime such as fly-tipping and littering, to both protect 

the environment and keep the Borough clean and tidy. 

STAFFING 

None 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

FINANCIAL 

None 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

No consultation undertaken 

REPUTATION 

Taking proactive actions to reduce the number of fly-tips, and responding to residents’ requests 

with positive outcomes, improves the reputation of the council.  

CONTRACTS 

None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

Reducing the amount of fly-tipped waste improves the appearance of the borough and reduces the 

potential for anti-social behaviour. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

Reducing the amount of fly-tipped waste improves the appearance of the borough and improves 

the appearance of hot spot areas, contributing to the wellbeing of residents in areas of the 

Borough. Page 144



  

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

ACRONYMS 

None 

 

APPENDICES 

None 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Victoria Burgess 

Signed off by:  

Approved for publication: Cllr Evans 

 

 

 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO:  Environment & Performance Committee 

DATE: 1 February 2022 

SUBJECT: Work Programme – Standing Item.  

KEY DECISION: NO 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Paul Skinner 

REPORT AUTHOR: Standing Item  

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All in the borough 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY: 

The Work Programme is a standing item at each meeting of the Environment and Performance 

Committee. 

It enables Members to identify any future reporting they may wish to see tabled through the 

committee and note upcoming reporting.   It also updates on any other Scrutiny activity ongoing 

or scheduled, including Member Briefings, Inquiry Sessions, Task and Finish Group Reviews and 

Member Working Groups. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Members note any future reporting already scheduled and submit items for scrutiny either 

direct to committee or via one of the alternative options of scrutiny.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To enable Members to progress the work programme. 
 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None. 

 

 
Page 147

Agenda Item 5



 

REPORT 

None.  Standing item as identified in the summary 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications associated with receiving this report. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                                              

There are no legal implications associated with receiving this report. 

 

RISK IMPLICATIONS  
There are no risk implications associated with receiving this report. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS                                                                                 

There are no climate change and environmental implications associated with receiving this 

report. 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS                                                                                            

There are no equality and safeguarding implications associated with receiving this report. 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                                              

There are no other implications associated with receiving this report. 

 

CONSULTATION 

None 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Work Programme 

APPENDIX B Forward Plan 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Tabled at each meeting of the Environment and Performance Committee 

 

 Page 148



FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

 

 

Page 149



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is blank. 

 

Page 150



 
 

 

Environment and Performance Committee Work Programme 2021–22 
 

THIS COMMITTEE’S REMIT IS ALIGNED TO COPORATE PRIORITIES:   CP1 PROSPERITY   and   CP3 PLACE 
 

MEETING 
DATE 

AGENDA ITEMS REPORT AUTHOR PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 

CABINET 

27.04.21 
 

1. Member Learning and Development Strategy - 21 to 2024 
2. Quarter 3 Performance / Work Programme 
3. Task & Finish Group Recommendations First Review 
4. Verbal update on MWG – Fly Tipping 

Assistant Director – Organisation 
Standing Item Chairman 

Assistant Director – Regulatory 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Cllr P Skinner 
 
“ 
“ 

12.05.2021 

22.06.21 
 
 
 

1. Recovery Plan – update   
2. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
3. Work Programme 

Assistant Dir. Economic Growth 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Standing Item 

Cllr P Skinner 23.06.21 

 

07.09.21 
 

 

1. Annual CCTV Report.   update   
2. Annual ASB Report.     update   
3. Provision of Public Conveniences – Boston  (verbal) 
4. BBC Social Media Acceptable Use Policy 
5. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
6. Work Programme  

 

Assistant Director - Regulatory 
Assistant Director – Regulatory 
Assistant Director - Operation 

Deputy Chief Executive 
Cllr J Welbourn 
Standing Item 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr T Abbott 

Cllr P Skinner 

 
08.09.21 

 
26.10.21 
 

 

1. Draft Climate Change Strategy for consultation  
2. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
3. Work Programme to include Q1. 

 

Assistant Director - Regulatory 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Standing Item 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
 

 
17.11.21 

 

07.12.21 
 

 

1. Carbon Reduction Plan 
2. Protecting the health and wellbeing of residents living 

Houses in Multiple Occupancy. 
3. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
4. Work Programme 

 

 

Assistant Director - Regulatory 
Safer Communities Manager 

 
Cllr J Welbourn 
Standing Item. 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr M Griggs 

 

 

08.12.21 

 

01.02.22 
 

 

1. Representation by Anglian Water 
2. Work Programme and Quarter 2 Performance    

 
 

 

Outside representation 
Standing Item  

  

09.02.22 

 

P
age 151



 
 

 
22.03.22 
 

 
1. Adoption of Climate Change Strategy 
2. Carbon Reduction Action Plan 
3. Joint Scrutiny – South East Lincolnshire Councils P/Ship 
4. Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
5. Work Programme 

 

 
Ass. Director – Regulatory 
Ass. Director - Regulatory 

Ass. Director - Governance 
Ass. Director – Neighbourhoods 

Standing Item.  
 

 
Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr N Welton 
Cllr D Evans 

 

 
30.03.22 

 
10.05.22 
 

    
11.05.22 

 
 

 

OPTIONS FOR SCRUTINY WORKING - current at issue of agenda 
 

 

Task and Finish Group Review 
 

Housing Standard – initial scoping meeting scheduled for….. 
 

  

 

Member Working Group 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication 
 

  

 

Inquiry Session 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication  
 

  

 

All Member Briefings 
 

 
 

 

Chairman:   Councillor Judith Skinner.     Vice Chairman:  Councillor Judy Welbourn 

Lead Officer:   Christian Allen   Clerk:       Karen Rist 

Pending future reporting: 

Public Convenience provision Boston.   

Single Use Waste Policy.  

P
age 152



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL  

FORWARD PLAN 

1 MARCH 2022 TO 28 FEBRUARY 2023 

The Forward Plan is a forecast of decisions which are expected to be taken by the Cabinet in the next twelve months. 
 
This Plan constitutes 28 day notice as required by virtue of Regulations 5(2) and 9(2) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information (England) Regulations 2012.  
 
The Boston Borough Council definition of a key decision is: 

• A decision which results in the authority incurring expenditure which is, or involves the making of savings which are significant having 

regard to the authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

• Be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards of the Borough. 

Decisions set out in this Plan will be taken by the Cabinet unless otherwise specified.  All decisions included in this Plan will be taken on the 
basis of a written report and will be published on the Council’s website before the meeting. 
 
Please note that the decision dates are indicative and occasionally subject to change.  
 
The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which decisions will be discussed and the papers listed on the 
Plan can be viewed free of charge at the Customer Services Desk, Municipal Building, West Street, Boston, or on the Council’s website, 
www.mybostonuk.com 
 
If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the decisions outlined in the Plan, please submit them in writing to the contact 
officer identified against each decision in the Plan, at least 2 working days before the date of the meeting at which the decision is to be taken. 
 
Agendas, decisions and minutes are published on the Council’s website www.mybostonuk.com 
 
Cabinet Members:  
 
Cllr Paul Skinner (Leader)    Cllr Tracey Abbott  Cllr Deborah Evans  Cllr Jonathan Noble 
Cllr Nigel Welton (Deputy Leader)  Cllr Richard Austin  Cllr Martin Griggs 

 

P
age 153

http://www.mybostonuk.com/
http://www.mybostonuk.com/


 

Report Title and  
Summary of Content 

Key / 
Non-Key 

Date Decision 
to be taken 

Rec to 
Council? 

Open or 
Exempt 

Lead Officer Portfolio Holder 

South & East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership (S&ELCP) Community 
Lottery Scheme - To propose the 
set-up of a S&ELCP Community 
Lottery to raise funding for 
community-based initiatives and 
partnership opportunities with the 
Voluntary and Community Sec 
 

Key 30 Mar 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Emily Spicer, 
Assistant Director - 
Wellbeing and 
Community 
Leadership  
emily.spicer@sholl
and.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Martin 
Griggs 

Boston Town Deal Business 
Cases :- Boston Train Station, 
Leisure Project, Mayflower Project 
 

Key 30 Mar 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Lydia Rusling, 
Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth  
lydia.rusling@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

Extension of Lincolnshire 
Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategies.  Both 
strategies expired at the end of 
2021 and require a one year 
extension to enable time for new 
strategies to be written and 
approved. 
 

Key 30 Mar 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Jason Oxby, 
Housing, 
Homelessness and 
Wellbeing Service 
Manager  
jason.oxby@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Martin 
Griggs 

Green Home Grants - To gain 
Member approval for the 
operational arrangements for the 
S&ELCP delivery of the Green 
Homes Grants for the sub-region 
 

Key 30 Mar 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Sarah Baker, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Manager  
sarah.baker@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

Model Code of Conduct Key 30 Mar 2022  Open Mark Stinson, Councillor Paul Skinner 

P
age 154



Report Title Key / 
Non-Key 

Date Decision 
to be taken 

Rec to 
Council? 

Open or 
Exempt 

Lead Officer Portfolio Holder 

   Monitoring Officer  
mark.stinson@shol
land.gov.uk 
 

Carbon Reduction Action Plan - To 
agree the Action Plan for 
implementing the previously 
approved Carbon Reduction Plan. 
 

Non Key 30 Mar 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Heather Prescott, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Officer  
heather.prescott@
boston.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

Adoption of Climate Change 
Strategy - Members asked for 
recommendation to Council that 
the final Climate Change Strategy 
be adopted after being informed by 
a period of consultation in late 
2021. 
 

Key 30 Mar 2022 
 
11 Apr 2022 
 

Yes  Open 
 

Sarah Baker, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Manager  
sarah.baker@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 
 
 

Quarter 3 Report - Performance, 
Risk and Finance 
 

Non Key 30 Mar 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Samantha 
Knowles, Assistant 
Director - Finance 
(Deputy S151 
Officer)  
SKnowles@sholla
nd.gov.uk, 
Suzanne Rolfe, 
Insights & 
Transformation 
Manager  
suzanne.rolfe@bo
ston.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul 
Skinner, Councillor 
Jonathan Noble 

P
age 155



Report Title Key / 
Non-Key 

Date Decision 
to be taken 

Rec to 
Council? 

Open or 
Exempt 

Lead Officer Portfolio Holder 

Community Grant Scheme 
 

Non Key 4 May 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Nichola 
Holderness, 
Empowering 
Healthy 
Communities 
Programme 
Coordinator  
Nichola.Holdernes
s@boston.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Martin 
Griggs 

Cultural Strategy 
 

Key 11 May 2022 
 

 Open 
 

Lydia Rusling, 
Assistant Director - 
Economic Growth  
lydia.rusling@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Richard 
Austin BEM 

Single-Use Waste Policy 
 

Key 22 Jun 2022 
 
11 Jul 2022 
 

Yes  Open 
 

Heather Prescott, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Officer  
heather.prescott@
boston.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 
 
 

Partnership ICT Strategy 
 

Key 7 Sep 2022 
 

 Open 
 

James Gilbert, 
Assistant Director 
– Organisation and 
Corporate 
Services  
james.gilbert@e-
lindsey.gov.uk 
 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

P
age 156


	Agenda
	B. MINUTES
	1 CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY
	Appendix A.  Climate Change Strategy

	2 CARBON REDUCTION ACTION PLAN
	Appendix A.  Carbon Reduction Plan
	Appendix B.  Carbon Recution Action Plan

	3 JOINT SCRUTINY BETWEEN PARTNERSHIP COUNCILS WITH SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP
	Appendix A.  Joint Scrutiny Framework
	Appendix B. Scoping Template - Public Transport
	Appendix C.  Suggested Scrutiny Topics

	4 MEMBER WORKING GROUP FLY TIPPING
	5 WORK PROGRAMME
	Work Programme
	Forward Plan


